

Iowa Compilation of School Discipline Laws and Regulations

Prepared: April 30, 2024

Introduction

This compilation presents school discipline-related laws and regulations for U.S. states, U.S. territories, and the District of Columbia, and, where available, links to education agency websites or resources related to school discipline and student conduct. The discipline laws and regulations presented in this compilation have been categorized by type of specific discipline issue covered, according to an organizational framework developed by the National Center for Safe and Supportive Learning Environments (NCSSLE). For example, one major category encompasses all laws or regulations governing states or territories that mandate specific disciplinary sanctions (such as suspension) for specific offenses (such as drug possession on school grounds). The school discipline laws and regulations were compiled through exhaustive searches of legislative websites that identified all laws and regulations relevant to each specific category. Compiled materials were subsequently reviewed by state education agency (SEA) representatives in the 50 states, Washington D.C., and the U.S. territories.

Discipline categories were not mutually exclusive. Laws and regulations often appeared across multiple categories. For jurisdictions with more extensive laws covering a breadth of topical areas, relevant sections were excerpted from the larger legislative text for inclusion in the appropriate discipline category. Laws, ordered by chapter and section number, appear first within each category followed by regulations. All laws and regulations listed within categories in the compilation also appear in the sources cited section of the document, which lists laws by chapter and section number and title, and where available, includes active hyperlinks to source websites supported or maintained by state legislatures. Additional links to government websites or resources are provided at the end of this document.

Notes & Disclaimers

To the best of the preparer's knowledge, this Compilation of School Discipline Laws and Regulations is complete and current as of April 2024. Readers should also note that the information in this document was compiled from individual sources that are created by each jurisdiction and which are maintained and updated with varying frequencies. Readers should consult the source information provided directly in order to check for updates to laws and regulations reported in this document or to conduct further research.

For further information, including definitions of the different policy categories, please refer to the <u>Discipline</u> Laws and Regulations Compendium posted on the Center's website.

Prepared by:



Table of Contents

Iowa State Codes Cited	1
Codes of Conduct	5
Authority to Develop and Establish Codes of Conduct	5
Scope	7
Communication of Policy	9
In-School Discipline	11
Discipline Frameworks	11
Teacher Authority to Remove Students From Classrooms	12
Alternatives to Suspension	12
Conditions on Use of Certain Forms of Discipline	14
Corporal Punishment	14
Search and Seizure	
Restraint and Seclusion	17
Exclusionary Discipline: Suspension, Expulsion, and Alternative Placement	
Grounds for Suspension or Expulsion	
Limitations or Conditions on Exclusionary Discipline	28
Due Process	
Return to School Following Removal	
Alternative Placements	30
Discipline Addressing Specific Code of Conduct Violations	
Firearms and Other Weapons Violations	
Students with Chronic Disciplinary Issues	
Chronic Absenteeism and Truancy	
Substance Use	
Gang-related Activity	
Bullying, Harassment, or Hazing	
Dating and Relationship Violence	
Prevention, Behavioral Intervention, and Supports	
State Model Policies and Implementation Support	
Multi-tiered Frameworks and Systems of Support	
Prevention	
Social-emotional Learning (SEL)	
Trauma-informed Practices	
Mental Health Literacy Training	
School-based Behavioral Health Programs	
Monitoring and Accountability	
Formal Incident Reporting of Conduct Violations	
Parental Notification	
Data Collection, Review, and Reporting of Discipline Policies and Actions	63

Partnerships between Schools and Law Enforcement	65
Referrals to Law Enforcement	65
School Resource Officer (SRO) or School Security Officer (SSO) Training or Certification	66
Authorizations, Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs), and/or Funding	66
Threat Assessment Protocols	67
State-Sponsored, Publicly Available Websites or Other Resources on School Discipline	68

Iowa State Codes Cited

Iowa Revised Laws

Title VI. Human Services

Chapter 232. Juvenile Justice

232.192. Early intervention and follow-up programs

Title VII. Education and Cultural Affairs

Chapter 256. Department of Education

<u>256.9.</u>	Duties of director
<u>256.11.</u>	Educational standards
<u>256.18.</u>	Character education polic

Chapter 257. Financing School Programs

257.38.	Funding for at-risk,	alternative school.	and returning drop	oouts and dropout

prevention programs - plan

<u>257.39.</u> Definitions – returning dropouts and potential dropouts

<u>257.41.</u> Funding for programs for returning dropouts and dropout prevention

Chapter 273. Area Education Agencies

273.2. Area education agencies established - powers - services and programs

Chapter 275. Reorganization of school districts

275.55A. Attendance in other district

Chapter 279. Directors - Powers and Duties

<u>279.9.</u>	Use of tobacco,	alcoholic	beverages,	or controlle	ed substances
---------------	-----------------	-----------	------------	--------------	---------------

<u>279.9B.</u> Reports to juvenile authorities

279.51A. Classroom environment - behavioral challenges - reports of violence or assault

279.58. School dress code policies

279.65A. Discipline of students who make threats of violence or cause incidents of violence.

279.66. Discipline and personal conduct standards

279.70. Training on suicide prevention, adverse childhood experiences identification, and

toxic stress response mitigation strategies

279.82. Intra-district enrollment

<u>279.83</u>. Notice to parents or guardians related to physical injuries, harassment, or bullying

279.9A. Student transfers – information sharing

Chapter 280. Uniform School Requirements

280.9B.	Violence p	revention	curriculum

280.12. School improvement advisory committee280.17A. Procedures for handling dangerous weapons

<u>280.17B.</u> Students suspended or expelled for possession of dangerous weapons

<u>280.19A.</u> Alternative options education programs - disclosure of records

<u>280.21.</u>	Corporal punishment - burden of proof
280.21B.	Expulsion - weapons in school
<u>280.24.</u>	Procedures for reporting drug or alcohol possession or use
<u>280.25.</u>	Information sharing - interagency agreements
<u>280.26.</u>	Intervention in altercations
280.27. 280.28.	Reporting violence - immunity Harassment and bullying prohibited - policy - immunity
	Behavioral Health Services - School Settings
280A.1.	Definitions
280A.2.	Behavioral health screenings and assessments in school settings
280A.3.	Establishment of provider-patient relationship for services provided via telehealth in
	a school setting
280A.4.	Behavioral health services provided via telehealth in a school setting
Chapter 282. S	School Attendance and Tuition
<u>282.4.</u>	Suspension - expulsion
<u>282.5.</u>	Readmission of student
<u>282.18.</u>	Open enrollment
Chapter 287. S	Societies and Fraternities
<u>287.3.</u>	Suspension or dismissal
Chapter 290.	Appeal from Decisions of Boards of Directors
<u>290.1.</u>	Appeal to state board
Chapter 299. (Compulsory Education
<u>299.1.</u>	Attendance requirements – attendance policies
<u>299.5A.</u>	Mediation
<u>299.8.</u>	"Truant" defined
<u>299.9.</u>	Truants - rules for punishment
<u>299.10.</u>	Truancy officers - appointment
<u>299.11.</u>	Duties of truancy officer
299.12. 299.15.	Violation of attendance policy - attendance cooperation meeting - agreement Reports by school officers and employees
<u> </u>	reports by solidor difficers and employees

Title XVI. Criminal Law and Procedure

Chapter 708. Assault

708.1. Assault defined

<u>708.10.</u> Hazing

Chapter 808A. Student Searches

<u>808A.1.</u>	Definitions
00012	Sooroboo o

808A.2. Searches of students, protected student areas, lockers, desks, and other facilities

or spaces

808A.3. Student search by peace officer

808A.4. Exclusion of evidence

Iowa Regulations

Iowa Administrative Code

Educational Department [281] Chapter

11. Unsafe School Choice Option

281-11.3. Whole school option

Chapter 12. General Accreditation Standards

281	1-12.2	(256)	. Definitions
20	I - I Z.Z	(してわり)	. Delinilions

281-12.3(13). Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy

281-12.8(256). Accountability for student achievement

Chapter 14. School Health Services

<u>281-14.4(279).</u> Suicide prevention, identification of adverse childhood experiences, and strategies to mitigate toxic stress response

281-14.12(256). Prevention of classroom behaviors that present an imminent threat

281-14.13(256). Therapeutic classroom

Chapter 41. Special Education

281-41.170. Suspension and expulsion rates

281-41.229. Disciplinary information

281-41.530. Authority of school personnel.

281-41.534. Protections for children not determined eligible for special education and related services.

281-41.535. Referral to and action by law enforcement and judicial authorities

<u>281-41.536</u>. Change of placement because of disciplinary removals.

Chapter 66. School-based Youth Services Programs

281-66 1/	279)	Scope	purpose a	nd general	nrincinles
201-00.11	ZI 3].	OCOPE,	puipose ai	nu ucnerai	DITIONES

281-66.2(279). Definitions

281-66.3(279). Development of a program plan

281-66.4(279). Program plan

281-66.6(279). Responsibilities of area education agencies

281-66.7(279). Responsibilities of the department of education

<u>Chapter 103. Corporal Punishment, Physical Restraint, Seclusion, And Other Physical Contact</u> <u>With Students</u>

281-103.1(256B.280). Purpose and objectives

281-103.2(256B,280). Definitions

281-103.3(256B,280). Ban on corporal punishment and prone and mechanical restraints

281-103.4(256B,280). Activities that are not considered corporal punishment

281-103.5(256B,280). Use of reasonable and necessary force

281-103.6(256B,280). Reasonable force

281-103.7(256B,280).
281-103.8(256B,280).
281-103.9(256B,280).
281-103.10(256B,280).
281-103.10(256B,280).
281-103.10(256B,280).

Educational Examiners Board [282]

Chapter 26. Code of Rights and Responsibilities

282-26.3(272). Responsibilities

Codes of Conduct

Authority to Develop and Establish Codes of Conduct

LAWS

256.9. Duties of director

Except for the public broadcasting board and division, the director shall:

69. Develop and distribute to school districts and charter schools model policies that, if adopted by a school district or charter school, would satisfy the school district's or charter school's responsibilities under section 279.65A relating to the discipline of a student for making a threat of violence or causing an incident of violence that results in injury or property damage or assault.

279.58. School dress code policies.

- 1. The general assembly finds and declares that the students and the administrative and instructional staffs of lowa's public schools have the right to be safe and secure at school. Gang-related apparel worn at school draws attention away from the school's learning environment and directs it toward thoughts or expressions of violence, bigotry, hate, and abuse.
- 2. The board of directors of a school district may adopt, for the district or for an individual school within the district, a dress code policy that prohibits students from wearing gang-related or other specific apparel if the board determines that the policy is necessary for the health, safety, or positive educational environment of students and staff in the school environment or for the appropriate discipline and operation of the school. Adoption and enforcement of a dress code policy is not a violation of section 280.22.

279.65A. Discipline of students who make threats of violence or cause incidents of violence

The board of directors of each school district shall adopt, in collaboration with teachers and administrative staff employed by the school district, policies for different grade levels that describe how a school district may discipline a student for making a threat of violence or causing an incident of violence that results in injury or property damage or assault. All of the following shall apply to the policies:

- 1. The policies must incorporate strategies that are designed to correct the student's behavior.
- 2. The policies must provide for parent or guardian conferences, counseling sessions, or mental health counseling sessions, when appropriate. The policies must provide that the school district must receive the prior written consent of the student's parent or guardian before requiring the student to participate in a counseling session or a mental health counseling session.
- 3. The policies must be consistent with the provisions of chapter 256B, the administrative rules adopted by the state board for purposes of chapter 256B, the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. §1400 et seq., and the federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended and codified in 29 U.S.C. §701 et seq.
- 4. The policies must provide for escalating levels of discipline each time the student makes a threat of violence or causes an incident of violence that results in injury or property damage or assault.
- 5. The policies must allow for the school district to select the level of discipline that the school district determines corresponds to the severity of the threat of violence or incident of violence.
- 6. The policies must allow the school district to suspend the student, permanently remove the student from a particular class, expel the student, or place the student in an alternative learning environment, including a therapeutic classroom, when appropriate.

- 7. The policies must require an individualized education program meeting if the student who made the threat of violence or caused the incident of violence that resulted in injury or property damage or assault has an individualized education program.
- 8. The policies must be published on the school district's internet site and in applicable student handbooks

279.66. Discipline and personal conduct standards.

The board of directors of a school district shall review and modify existing policies related to student discipline and student conduct that are designed to promote responsible behavior on school property and at school functions in order that the policy shall govern the conduct of students, teachers and other school personnel, and visitors; provide opportunities for students to exercise self-discipline and practice cooperative classroom behavior; and encourage students and practitioners to model fairness, equity, and respect. The policy shall specify the responsibilities of students, parents and guardians, and practitioners in creating an atmosphere where all individuals feel a sense of respect, safety, and belonging, and shall set forth the consequences for unacceptable behavior. The policy shall be published in the student handbook.

280.28. Harassment and bullying prohibited - policy - immunity.

3. Policy. On or before September 1, 2007, the board of directors of a school district and the authorities in charge of each accredited nonpublic school shall adopt a policy declaring harassment and bullying in schools, on school property, and at any school function, or school-sponsored activity regardless of its location, in a manner consistent with this section, as against state and school policy.

299.1. Attendance requirements - attendance policies.

- 2. a. The board of directors of a public school district or the governing body of an accredited nonpublic school shall set the number of days or hours of required attendance for the schools under its control.
 - b. The board of directors of a public school district or the governing body of an accredited nonpublic school may, by resolution, require attendance for the entire time when the schools are in session in any school year.
- 3. The board of directors of a public school district shall adopt a policy related to absenteeism and truancy. The policy may contain attendance requirements that are more stringent than the attendance requirements established under this chapter.
- 4. a. The board of directors of a public school district shall adopt a policy or rules relating to children who are chronically absent. The policy or rules must contain provisions that clearly explain all of the following:
 - (1) How the board of directors determines whether a child is chronically absent.
 - (2) The different interventions that the board of directors may use when a child is chronically absent.
 - (3) The different penalties associated with a child being chronically absent.
 - b. The policy or rules adopted by the board of directors of a public school district pursuant to paragraph "a" must not apply to any child:
 - (1) Who has completed the requirements for graduation in a public school district or has obtained a high school equivalency diploma under chapter 259A.
 - (2) Who is excused for sufficient reason by any court of record or judge.
 - (3) While attending religious services or receiving religious instructions.
 - (4) Who is unable to attend school due to legitimate medical reasons.
 - (5) Who has an individualized education program that affects the child's attendance.
 - (6) Who has a plan under section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. §794, that affects the child's attendance.

299.9. Truants - rules for punishment.

The board of directors of a public school district or the authorities in charge of an accredited nonpublic school shall prescribe reasonable rules for the punishment of truants.

REGULATIONS

281-12.3(13). Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy.

12.3(6) Student responsibility and discipline. The board shall adopt student responsibility and discipline policies as required by Iowa Code section 279.8. The board shall involve parents, students, instructional and noninstructional professional staff, and community members in the development and revision of those policies where practicable or unless specific policy is mandated by legislation. The policies shall relate to the educational purposes of the school or school district. The policies shall include, but are not limited to, the following: attendance; use of tobacco; the use or possession of alcoholic beverages or any controlled substance; harassment of or by students and staff as detailed in subrule 12.3(13); violent, destructive, and seriously disruptive behavior; suspension, expulsion, emergency removal, weapons, and physical restraint; out-of-school behavior; participation in extracurricular activities; academic progress; and citizenship.

Scope

LAWS

279.66. Discipline and personal conduct standards.

The board of directors of a school district shall review and modify existing policies related to student discipline and student conduct that are designed to promote responsible behavior on school property and at school functions in order that the policy shall govern the conduct of students, teachers and other school personnel, and visitors; provide opportunities for students to exercise self-discipline and practice cooperative classroom behavior; and encourage students and practitioners to model fairness, equity, and respect. The policy shall specify the responsibilities of students, parents and guardians, and practitioners in creating an atmosphere where all individuals feel a sense of respect, safety, and belonging, and shall set forth the consequences for unacceptable behavior. The policy shall be published in the student handbook.

280.17A. Procedures for handling dangerous weapons.

The board of directors of a public school and the authorities in control of a nonpublic school shall prescribe procedures requiring school officials to report to local law enforcement agencies any dangerous weapon, as defined in section 702.7, possessed on school premises in violation of school policy or state law.

280.17B. Students suspended or expelled for possession of dangerous weapons.

The board of directors of a public school and the authorities in control of a nonpublic school shall prescribe procedures for continued school involvement with a student who is suspended or expelled for possession of a dangerous weapon, as defined in section 702.7, on school premises in violation of state law and for the reintegration of the student into the school following the suspension or expulsion.

280.28. Harassment and bullying prohibited - policy - immunity.

3. Policy. On or before September 1, 2007, the board of directors of a school district and the authorities in charge of each accredited nonpublic school shall adopt a policy declaring harassment and bullying in schools, on school property, and at any school function, or school-sponsored activity regardless of its location, in a manner consistent with this section, as against state and school policy. The board and the authorities shall make a copy of the policy available to all school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians and shall take all appropriate steps to bring the policy against harassment and bullying and the responsibilities set forth in the policy to the attention of school employees, volunteers,

students, and parents or guardians. Each policy shall, at a minimum, include all of the following components:

- a. A statement declaring harassment and bullying to be against state and school policy. The statement shall include but not be limited to the following provisions:
 - (1) School employees, volunteers, and students in school, on school property, or at any school function or school-sponsored activity shall not engage in harassing and bullying behavior.

282.4. Suspension - expulsion.

2. A student who commits an assault, as defined under section 708.1, against a school employee in a school building, on school grounds, or at a school-sponsored function shall be suspended for a time to be determined by the principal. Notice of the suspension shall be immediately sent to the president of the board. By special meeting or at the next regularly scheduled board meeting, the board shall review the suspension and decide whether to hold a disciplinary hearing to determine whether or not to order further sanctions against the student, which may include expelling the student. In making its decision, the board shall consider the best interests of the school district, which shall include what is best to protect and ensure the safety of the school employees and students from the student committing the assault.

708.1. Assault defined.

- 1. An assault as defined in this section is a general intent crime.
- 2. A person commits an assault when, without justification, the person does any of the following:
 - a. Any act which is intended to cause pain or injury to, or which is intended to result in physical contact which will be insulting or offensive to another, coupled with the apparent ability to execute the act.
 - b. Any act which is intended to place another in fear of immediate physical contact which will be painful, injurious, insulting, or offensive, coupled with the apparent ability to execute the act.
 - c. Intentionally points any firearm toward another, or displays in a threatening manner any dangerous weapon toward another.
 - d. (1)
 - (a) Intentionally points a laser emitting a visible light beam toward another person with the intent to cause pain or injury to another, or toward an aircraft.
 - (b) For purposes of this subparagraph (1):
 - (i) "Aircraft" means any contrivance intended for and capable of transporting persons through the airspace.
 - (ii) "Laser" means a device that emits a visible light beam amplified by the stimulated emission of radiation and any light which simulates the appearance of a laser.
 - (2) This paragraph does not apply to any of the following:
 - (c) A person who uses a laser to play laser tag, paintball, and other similar games using light-emitting diode technology.
- 3. An act described in subsection 2 shall not be an assault under the following circumstances:
 - a. If the person doing any of the enumerated acts, and such other person, are voluntary participants in a sport, social or other activity, not in itself criminal, and such act is a reasonably foreseeable incident of such sport or activity, and does not create an unreasonable risk of serious injury or breach of the peace.

REGULATIONS

281-12.3(13). Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy.

- 12.3(13) Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy. The policy adopted by the board regarding harassment of or by students and staff shall declare harassment and bullying in schools, on school property, and at any school function or school-sponsored activity regardless of its location to be against state and school policy. The board shall make a copy of the policy available to all school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians and shall take all appropriate steps to bring the policy against harassment and bullying and the responsibilities set forth in the policy to the attention of school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians. Each policy shall, at a minimum, include all of the following components:
 - a. A statement declaring harassment and bullying to be against state and school policy. The statement shall include but not be limited to the following provisions:
 - (1) School employees, volunteers, and students in school, on school property, or at any school function or school-sponsored activity shall not engage in harassing and bullying behavior.

Communication of Policy

LAWS

280.28. Harassment and bullying prohibited - policy - immunity.

- 3. Policy. On or before September 1, 2007, the board of directors of a school district and the authorities in charge of each accredited nonpublic school shall adopt a policy declaring harassment and bullying in schools, on school property, and at any school function, or school-sponsored activity regardless of its location, in a manner consistent with this section, as against state and school policy. The board and the authorities shall make a copy of the policy available to all school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians and shall take all appropriate steps to bring the policy against harassment and bullying and the responsibilities set forth in the policy to the attention of school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians. Each policy shall, at a minimum, include all of the following components:
 - g. A statement of the manner in which the policy will be publicized.

808A.2. Searches of students, protected student areas, lockers, desks, and other facilities or spaces.

1. The school board of each public school and the authorities in charge of each nonpublic school shall establish and may search a student or protected student area pursuant to a student search rule. The student search rule shall be published in each public school's and each nonpublic school's student handbook.

REGULATIONS

281-12.3(13). Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy.

12.3(6) Student responsibility and discipline. The board shall adopt student responsibility and discipline policies as required by Iowa Code section 279.8. The board shall involve parents, students, instructional and noninstructional professional staff, and community members in the development and revision of those policies where practicable or unless specific policy is mandated by legislation. The policies shall relate to the educational purposes of the school or school district. The policies shall include, but are not limited to, the following: attendance; use of tobacco; the use or possession of alcoholic beverages or any controlled substance; harassment of or by students and staff as detailed in subrule 12.3(13); violent, destructive, and seriously disruptive behavior; suspension, expulsion, emergency removal, weapons,

and physical restraint; out-of-school behavior; participation in extracurricular activities; academic progress; and citizenship.

The policies shall ensure due process rights for students and parents, including consideration for students who have been identified as requiring special education programs and services.

The board shall also consider the potential, disparate impact of the policies on students because of race, color, national origin, gender, sexual orientation as defined in Iowa Code section 216.2 as amended by 2007 Iowa Acts, Senate File 427, section 1, gender identity as defined in Iowa Code section 216.2 as amended by 2007 Iowa Acts, Senate File 427, section 1, disability, religion, creed, or socioeconomic status.

The board shall publicize its support of these policies, its support of the staff in enforcing them, and the staff's accountability for implementing them. [...]

12.3(13) Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy. The policy adopted by the board regarding harassment of or by students and staff shall declare harassment and bullying in schools, on school property, and at any school function or school-sponsored activity regardless of its location to be against state and school policy. The board shall make a copy of the policy available to all school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians and shall take all appropriate steps to bring the policy against harassment and bullying and the responsibilities set forth in the policy to the attention of school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians. Each policy shall, at a minimum, include all of the following components:

g. A statement of the manner in which the policy will be publicized.

281-103.7(256B,280). Reasonable and necessary force - use of physical restraint or seclusion.

103.7(9) Schools must provide a copy of this chapter and any school-adopted or school-used related policies, procedures and training materials to any individual who is not an employee but whose duties could require the individual to participate in or be present when physical restraints are or seclusion is being used. Schools must invite these individuals to participate in training offered to employees pursuant to this chapter.

In-School Discipline

Discipline Frameworks

LAWS

279.66. Discipline and personal conduct standards.

- 1. The board of directors of a school district shall review and modify existing policies related to student discipline and student conduct that are designed to promote responsible behavior on school property and at school functions in order that the policy shall govern the conduct of students, teachers and other school personnel, and visitors; provide opportunities for students to exercise self-discipline and practice cooperative classroom behavior; and encourage students and practitioners to model fairness, equity, and respect. The policy shall specify the responsibilities of students, parents and guardians, and practitioners in creating an atmosphere where all individuals feel a sense of respect, safety, and belonging, and shall set forth the consequences for unacceptable behavior. The policy shall be published in the student handbook.
- 2. The board of directors of a school district shall include or reference in the student handbook guidance published pursuant to section 256.9, subsection 63, by the department of education for parents, guardians, and community members who have concerns about school districts or their governing boards.

REGULATIONS

281-41.534(256B,34CFR300) Protections for children not determined eligible for special education and related services.

- 41.534(1) General. A child who has not been determined to be eligible for special education and related services under this chapter and who has engaged in behavior that violated a code of student conduct may assert any of the protections provided for in this chapter if the public agency had knowledge, as determined in accordance with subrule 41.534(2), that the child was a child with a disability before the behavior that precipitated the disciplinary action occurred.
- 41.534(2) Basis of knowledge. A public agency must be deemed to have knowledge that a child is a child with a disability if before the behavior that precipitated the disciplinary action occurred any of the following occurred:
 - a. The parent of the child expressed concern in writing to supervisory or administrative personnel of the appropriate educational agency or to a teacher of the child that the child is in need of special education and related services:
 - b. The parent of the child requested an evaluation of the child pursuant to this chapter; or
 - c. The teacher of the child, or other personnel of the LEA, expressed specific concerns about a pattern of behavior demonstrated by the child directly to the director of special education of the agency or to other supervisory personnel of the agency.
- 41.534(3) Exception. A public agency would not be deemed to have knowledge under subrule 41.534(2) under the following conditions:
 - a. The parent of the child has not allowed an evaluation of the child pursuant to this chapter or has refused services under Part B of the Act or this chapter; or
 - b. The child has been evaluated in accordance with this chapter and determined not to be a child with a disability under Part B of the Act and this chapter.
- 41.534(4) Conditions that apply if no basis of knowledge.

- a. General. If a public agency does not have knowledge that a child is a child with a disability, in accordance with subrules 41.534(2) and 41.534(3), prior to taking disciplinary measures against the child, the child may be subjected to the disciplinary measures applied to children without disabilities who engage in comparable behaviors consistent with paragraph 41.534(4)"b." b. Request for evaluation.
 - (1) If a request is made for an evaluation of a child during the time period in which the child is subjected to disciplinary measures under rule 281-41.530(256B,34CFR300), the evaluation must be conducted in an expedited manner.
 - (2) Until the evaluation is completed, the child remains in the educational placement determined by school authorities, which can include suspension or expulsion without educational services.
 - (3) If the child is determined to be a child with a disability, taking into consideration information from the evaluation conducted by the agency and information provided by the parents, the agency must provide special education and related services in accordance with Part B of the Act and this chapter, including the requirements of rules 281-41.530(256B,34CFR300) to 281-41.536(256B,34CFR300) and Section 612(a)(1)(A) of the Act.

Teacher Authority to Remove Students From Classrooms

LAWS

279.51A. Classroom environment - behavioral challenges - reports of violence or assault.

1. A classroom teacher may clear students from the classroom only if necessary to prevent or terminate an imminent threat of bodily injury to a student or another person in the classroom.

280.21. Corporal punishment - burden of proof.

- 2. A school employee who, in the reasonable course of the employee's employment responsibilities, comes into physical contact with a student shall be granted immunity from any civil or criminal liability which might otherwise be incurred or imposed as a result of such physical contact, if the physical contact is reasonable under the circumstances and involves any of the following:
 - f. Removing a disruptive student from class or any area of the school premises, or from school-sponsored activities off school premises.

REGULATIONS

281-103.5(256B,280). Use of reasonable and necessary force.

- 103.5(1) Notwithstanding the ban on corporal punishment in rule 281-103.3(256B,280), no employee subject to these rules is prohibited from:
 - a. Using reasonable and necessary force, not designed or intended to cause pain, in order to accomplish any of the following:
 - (4) To remove a disruptive student from class or any area of the school's premises or from school-sponsored activities off school premises.

Alternatives to Suspension

LAWS

280.25. Information sharing - interagency agreements.

2. The purpose of the agreement shall be to reduce juvenile crime by promoting cooperation and collaboration and the sharing of appropriate information among the parties in a joint effort to improve school safety, reduce alcohol and illegal drug use, reduce truancy, reduce in-school and out-of-school suspensions, and to support alternatives to in-school and out-of-school suspensions and expulsions which provide structured and well-supervised educational programs supplemented by coordinated and

appropriate services designed to correct behaviors that lead to truancy, suspension, and expulsions and to support students in successfully completing their education.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Conditions on Use of Certain Forms of Discipline

Corporal Punishment

LAWS

280.21. Corporal punishment - burden of proof.

- 1. An employee of a public school district, accredited nonpublic school, or area education agency shall not inflict, or cause to be inflicted, corporal punishment upon a student. For purposes of this section, "corporal punishment" means the intentional physical punishment of a student. An employee's physical contact with the body of a student shall not be considered corporal punishment if it is reasonable and necessary under the circumstances and is not designed or intended to cause pain or if the employee uses reasonable force, as defined under section 704.1, for the protection of the employee, the student, or other students; to obtain the possession of a weapon or other dangerous object within a student's control; or for the protection of property. The department of education shall adopt rules to implement this section.
- 2. A school employee who, in the reasonable course of the employee's employment responsibilities, comes into physical contact with a student shall be granted immunity from any civil or criminal liability which might otherwise be incurred or imposed as a result of such physical contact, if the physical contact is reasonable under the circumstances and involves any of the following:
 - a. Encouraging, supporting, or disciplining the student.
 - b. Protecting the employee, the student, or other students.
 - c. Obtaining possession of a weapon or other dangerous object within a student's control.
 - d. Protecting employee, student, or school property.
 - e. Quelling a disturbance or preventing an act threatening physical harm to any person.
 - f. Removing a disruptive student from class or any area of the school premises, or from school- sponsored activities off school premises.
 - g. Preventing a student from the self-infliction of harm.
 - h. Self-defense.
 - i. Any other legitimate educational activity.
- 3. To prevail in a civil action alleging a violation of this section the party bringing the action shall prove the violation by clear and convincing evidence. Any school employee determined in a civil action to have been wrongfully accused under this section shall be awarded reasonable monetary damages, in light of the circumstances involved, against the party bringing the action.
- 4. A school employee's employer and the board of educational examiners shall not engage in reprisal or retaliation against a school employee who, in the reasonable course of the employee's employment responsibilities, comes into physical contact with a student in accordance with this section.

REGULATIONS

281-103.1(256B,280). Purpose and objectives.

The purpose of this chapter is to provide uniform definitions and policies for public school districts, accredited nonpublic schools, and area education agencies regarding the application of physical contact or force to enrolled students. These rules clarify that corporal punishment, prone restraint, and mechanical restraint are prohibited; explain the parameters and protocols for the use of physical restraint and seclusion; and describe other limits on physical contact with students. The applicability of this chapter to physical restraint, seclusion, or behavior management interventions does not depend on the terminology employed by the organization to describe the activity or space. These rules are intended to

promote the dignity, care, safety, welfare, and security of each child and the school community; encourage the use of proactive, effective, and evidence- and research-based strategies and best practices to reduce the occurrence of challenging behaviors; increase meaningful instructional time for all students; ensure that seclusion and physical restraint are used only in specified circumstances and are subject to assessment, monitoring, documentation, and reporting by trained employees; and give clear guidance on whether a disciplinary or behavioral management technique is prohibited or may be used.

281-103.2(256B,280). Definitions.

For the purposes of this chapter:

"Corporal punishment" means the intentional physical punishment of a student. "Corporal punishment" includes the use of unreasonable or unnecessary physical force, or physical contact made with the intent to harm or cause pain.

281-103.3(256B,280). Ban on corporal punishment and prone and mechanical restraints.

An employee shall not inflict, or cause to be inflicted, corporal punishment upon a student or use prone restraints or mechanical restraints upon a student.

281-103.4(256B,280). Activities that are not considered corporal punishment.

Corporal punishment does not include the following:

- 1. Verbal recrimination or chastisement directed toward a student;
- 2. Reasonable requests or requirements of a student engaged in activities associated with physical education class or extracurricular athletics;
- 3. Actions consistent with and included in an individualized education program (IEP) developed under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, as reauthorized, Iowa Code chapter 256B, and 281- Chapter 41; a behavior intervention plan (BIP); an individual health plan (IHP); or a safety plan. However, under no circumstance shall an IEP, BIP, IHP, or safety plan violate the provisions of this chapter;
- 4. Reasonable periods of detention, not in excess of school hours, or brief periods of detention before or after school, in a seat, classroom, or other part of a school facility;
- 5. Actions by an employee subject to these rules toward a person who is not a student of the school or receiving the services of a school employing or utilizing the services of the employee.

281-103.5(256B,280). Use of reasonable and necessary force.

103.5(1) Notwithstanding the ban on corporal punishment in rule 281-103.3(256B,280), no employee subject to these rules is prohibited from:

- a. Using reasonable and necessary force, not designed or intended to cause pain, in order to accomplish any of the following:
 - (1) To quell a disturbance or prevent an act that threatens physical harm to any person.
 - (2) To obtain possession of a weapon or other dangerous object within a student's control.
 - (3) For the purposes of self-defense or defense of others as provided for in Iowa Code section 704.3.
 - (4) To remove a disruptive student from class or any area of the school's premises or from school-sponsored activities off school premises.
 - (5) To prevent a student from the self-infliction of harm.
 - (6) To protect the safety of others.
 - (7) To protect property as provided for in Iowa Code section 704.4 or 704.5.
- b. Using incidental, minor, or reasonable physical contact to maintain order and control.

103.5(2) An employee subject to these rules is not privileged to use unreasonable force to accomplish any of the purposes listed above.

281-103.6(256B,280). Reasonable force.

103.6(1) In determining the reasonableness of the physical force used by a school employee, the following factors shall be applied:

- a. The size and physical, mental, and psychological condition of the student;
- b. The nature of the student's behavior or misconduct resulting in the use of physical force;
- c. The instrumentality used in applying the physical force;
- d. The extent and nature of resulting injury to the student, if any, including mental and psychological injury;
- e. The motivation of the school employee using the physical force.

103.6(2) Reasonable physical force, privileged at its inception, does not lose its privileged status by reasons of an injury to the student, not reasonably foreseeable or otherwise caused by intervening acts of another, including the student.

Search and Seizure

LAWS

808A.1. Definitions.

As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires:

- 5. "Student search rule" means a rule established by the school board of a public school, pursuant to section 279.8 or 279.9, or the authorities in charge of a nonpublic school controlling the manner of the searching of students or protected student areas and school lockers, desks, and other facilities or spaces owned by the school. A student search rule, to be valid for purposes of this chapter, shall require that all searches of students or protected student areas be reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which gave rise to the need for the search and based upon consideration of relevant factors which include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - a. The nature of the violation for which the search is being instituted.
 - b. The age or ages and gender of the students who may be searched pursuant to the rule.
 - c. The objectives to be accomplished by the search.

808A.2. Searches of students, protected student areas, lockers, desks, and other facilities or spaces.

- 1. The school board of each public school and the authorities in charge of each nonpublic school shall establish and may search a student or protected student area pursuant to a student search rule. The student search rule shall be published in each public school's and each nonpublic school's student handbook. A school official may search individual students and individual protected student areas if both of the following apply:
 - a. The official has reasonable grounds for suspecting that the search will produce evidence that a student has violated or is violating either the law or a school rule or regulation.
 - b. The search is conducted in a manner which is reasonably related to the objectives of the search and which is not excessively intrusive in light of the age and gender of the student and the nature of the infraction.
- 2. School officials may conduct periodic inspections of all, or a randomly selected number of, school lockers, desks, and other facilities or spaces owned by the school and provided as a courtesy to a student. The furnishing of a school locker, desk, or other facility or space owned by the school and provided as a courtesy to a student shall not create a protected student area, and shall not give rise to an expectation of privacy on a student's part with respect to that locker, desk, facility, or space. Allowing students to use a separate lock on a locker, desk, or other facility or space owned by the school and provided to the student shall also not give rise to an expectation of privacy on a student's part with

respect to that locker, desk, facility, or space. However, each year when school begins, the school district shall provide written notice to all students and the students' parents, guardians, or legal custodians, that school officials may conduct periodic inspections of school lockers, desks, and other facilities or spaces owned by the school and provided as a courtesy to a student without prior notice. An inspection under this subsection shall either occur in the presence of the students whose lockers are being inspected or the inspection shall be conducted in the presence of at least one other person.

- 3. Under no circumstances may a search be made which is unreasonable in light of the following:
 - a. The age of the student.
 - b. The nonseriousness of the violation.
 - c. The sex of the student.
 - d. The nature of the suspected violation.
- 4. A school official shall not conduct a search which involves:
 - a. A strip search.
 - b. A body cavity search.
 - c. The use of a drug sniffing animal to search a student's body.
 - d. The search of a student by a school official not of the same sex as the student.
- 5. If a student is not or will not be present at the time a search of a protected student area is conducted pursuant to subsection 1, the student shall be informed of the search either prior to or as soon as is reasonably practicable after the search is conducted.

808A.3. Student search by peace officer.

The search of a student or of a protected student area by a peace officer who is not a school official, or by a school official at the invitation or direction of a peace officer who is not a school official, shall be governed by the statutory and common law requirements for police searches.

808A.4. Exclusion of evidence.

Material or evidence obtained directly or indirectly as a result of a search conducted in violation of this chapter is inadmissible in a criminal proceeding against a student.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Restraint and Seclusion

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

281-103.1(256B,280). Purpose and objectives.

The purpose of this chapter is to provide uniform definitions and policies for public school districts, accredited nonpublic schools, and area education agencies regarding the application of physical contact or force to enrolled students. These rules clarify that corporal punishment, prone restraint, and mechanical restraint are prohibited; explain the parameters and protocols for the use of physical restraint and seclusion; and describe other limits on physical contact with students. The applicability of this chapter to physical restraint, seclusion, or behavior management interventions does not depend on the terminology employed by the organization to describe the activity or space. These rules are intended to promote the dignity, care, safety, welfare, and security of each child and the school community; encourage the use of proactive, effective, and evidence- and research-based strategies and best practices to reduce the occurrence of challenging behaviors; increase meaningful instructional time for all

students; ensure that seclusion and physical restraint are used only in specified circumstances and are subject to assessment, monitoring, documentation, and reporting by trained employees; and give clear guidance on whether a disciplinary or behavioral management technique is prohibited or may be used.

281-103.2(256B,280). Definitions.

For the purposes of this chapter:

"Bodily injury" means physical pain, illness, or any impairment of physical condition.

"Corporal punishment" means the intentional physical punishment of a student. "Corporal punishment" includes the use of unreasonable or unnecessary physical force, or physical contact made with the intent to harm or cause pain.

"Debriefings" are meetings to collaboratively examine and determine what caused an incident or incidents resulting in the use of physical restraints or seclusion, how the incident or the use of physical restraints or seclusion or both could have been avoided and how future incidents could be avoided, and to plan for and implement positive and preventative supports. The debriefing process is intended to improve future outcomes by reducing the likelihood of future problem behavior and the subsequent use of physical restraint or seclusion.

"Mechanical restraint" means the use of a device as a means of restricting a student's freedom of movement. "Mechanical restraint" does not mean a device used by trained school personnel, or used by a student, for the specific and approved therapeutic or safety purposes for which such a device was designed and, if applicable, prescribed, including restraints for medical immobilization, adaptive devices or mechanical supports used to allow greater freedom of mobility than would be possible without the use of such devices or mechanical supports, and vehicle safety restraints when used as intended during the transport of a student in a moving vehicle.

"Parent" means an individual included in the definition of "parent" in rule 281-41.30(256B,34CFR300), and also includes an individual authorized to make decisions for the child pursuant to a power of attorney for temporary delegation of custody or for making educational decisions.

"Physical restraint" means a personal restriction that immobilizes or reduces the ability of a child to move the child's arms, legs, body, or head freely. "Physical restraint" does not mean a technique used by trained school personnel, or used by a student, for the specific and approved therapeutic or safety purposes for which such a technique was designed and, if applicable, prescribed. "Physical restraint" does not include instructional strategies, such as physically guiding a student during an educational task, hand-shaking, hugging, or other nondisciplinary physical contact.

"Prone restraint" means any restraint in which the child is held face down on the floor.

"Reasonable and necessary force" is that force, and no more, which a reasonable person would judge to be necessary under the circumstances that existed at the time, that is not intended to cause pain, and that does not exceed the degree or duration required to accomplish the purposes set forth in rule 281-103.5(256B,280).

"School" includes public school districts, accredited nonpublic schools, and area education agencies.

"Seclusion" means the involuntary confinement of a child in a seclusion room or area from which the child is prevented or prohibited from leaving; however, preventing a child from leaving a classroom or school building shall not be considered seclusion. "Seclusion" does not include instances when a school employee is present within the room and providing services to the child, such as crisis intervention or instruction.

"Seclusion room" means a room, area, or enclosure, whether within or outside the classroom, used for seclusion.

281-103.3(256B,280). Ban on corporal punishment and prone and mechanical restraints.

An employee shall not inflict, or cause to be inflicted, corporal punishment upon a student or use prone restraints or mechanical restraints upon a student.

281-103.6(256B,280). Reasonable force.

103.6(1) In determining the reasonableness of the physical force used by a school employee, the following factors shall be applied:

- a. The size and physical, mental, and psychological condition of the student;
- b. The nature of the student's behavior or misconduct resulting in the use of physical force;
- c. The instrumentality used in applying the physical force;
- d. The extent and nature of resulting injury to the student, if any, including mental and psychological injury;
- e. The motivation of the school employee using the physical force.
- 103.6(2) Reasonable physical force, privileged at its inception, does not lose its privileged status by reasons of an injury to the student, not reasonably foreseeable or otherwise caused by intervening acts of another, including the student.

281-103.7(256B,280). Reasonable and necessary force - use of physical restraint or seclusion.

103.7(1) Physical restraint or seclusion is reasonable and necessary only:

- a. To prevent or terminate an imminent threat of bodily injury to the student or others; or
- b. To prevent serious damage to property of significant monetary value or significant nonmonetary value or importance; or
- c. When the student's actions seriously disrupt the learning environment or when physical restraint or seclusion is necessary to ensure the safety of the student and others; and
- d. When less restrictive alternatives to seclusion or physical restraint would not be effective, would not be feasible under the circumstances, or have failed in preventing or terminating the imminent threat or behavior; and
- e. When the physical restraint or seclusion complies with all the rules of this chapter.
- 103.7(2) If seclusion or physical restraint is utilized, the following provisions shall apply:
 - a. The seclusion or physical restraint must be imposed by an employee who:
 - (1) Is trained in accordance with rule 281-103.8(256B,280); or
 - (2) Is otherwise available and a trained employee is not immediately available due to the unforeseeable nature of the occurrence.
 - b. A school must attempt to notify the student's parent using the school's emergency contact system as soon as practicable after the situation is under control, but no later than one hour or the end of the school day, whichever occurs first.
 - c. The seclusion or physical restraint must only be used for as long as is necessary, based on research and evidence, to allow the student to regain control of the student's behavior to the point that the threat or behavior necessitating the use of the seclusion or physical restraint has ended, or when a medical condition occurs that puts the student at risk of harm.

Unless otherwise provided for in the student's written, approved IEP, BIP, IHP, or safety plan, if the seclusion or physical restraint continues for more than 15 minutes:

- (1) The student shall be provided with any necessary breaks to attend to personal and bodily needs, unless doing so would endanger the child or others.
- (2) An employee shall obtain approval from an administrator or administrator's designee to continue the seclusion or physical restraint beyond 15 minutes. After the initial approval, an employee must

- obtain additional approval every 30 minutes thereafter for the continuation of the seclusion or physical restraint. Approval must be documented in accordance with rule 281-103.8(256B,280).
- (3) The student's parent and the school may agree to more frequent notifications than is required by this subrule.
- (4) Schools and employees must document and explain in writing, as required by subrule 103.8(2), the reasons why it was not possible for them to obtain approval, notify parents, or take action under paragraphs 103.7(2)"b" and "c" within the prescribed time limits.
- (5) Schools and employees who initiate and then end the use of nonapproved restraints must document and explain in writing the reasons why they had no other option but to use this type of behavioral intervention. This subparagraph is not intended to excuse or condone the use of nonapproved restraints.
- d. The area of seclusion shall be a designated seclusion room that complies with the seclusion room requirements of rule 281-103.9(256B,280), unless the nature of the occurrence makes the use of the designated seclusion room impossible, clearly impractical, or clearly contrary to the safety of the student, others, or both; in that event, the school must document and explain in writing the reasons why a designated seclusion room was not used.
- e. An employee must continually visually monitor the student for the duration of the seclusion or physical restraint.
- f. An employee shall not use any physical restraint that obstructs the airway of the student.
- g. If an employee restrains a student who uses sign language or an augmentative mode of communication as the student's primary mode of communication, the student shall be permitted to have the student's hands free of physical restraint, unless doing so is not feasible in view of the threat posed.
- h. Seclusion or physical restraint shall not be used:
 - -As punishment or discipline;
 - -To force compliance or to retaliate;
 - -As a substitute for appropriate educational or behavioral support;
 - -To prevent property damage except as described in paragraph 103.7(1)"b";
 - -As a routine school safety measure; or
 - -As a convenience to staff.
- 103.7(3) An employee must document the use of the seclusion or physical restraint in accordance with rule 281-103.8(256B,280).
- 103.7(4) Nothing in this rule shall be construed as limiting or eliminating any immunity conferred by Iowa Code section 280.21, rule 281-103.11(256B,280), or any other provision of law.
- 103.7(5) An agency covered by this chapter shall investigate any complaint or allegation that one or more of its employees violated one or more provisions of this chapter. If an agency covered by this chapter determines that one or more of its employees violated one or more of the provisions of this chapter, the agency shall take appropriate corrective action. If any allegation involves a specific student, the agency shall transmit to the parents of the student the results of its investigation, including, to the extent permitted by law, any required corrective action.
- 103.7(6) If a child's IEP, BIP, IHP, or safety plan includes either or both physical restraint or seclusion measures, those measures must be individualized to the child; described with specificity in the child's IEP, BIP, IHP, or safety plan; and be reasonably calculated to enable the child to make progress appropriate in light of the child's circumstances.

- 103.7(7) These rules must be complied with whether or not a parent consents to the use of physical restraint or seclusion for the child.
- 103.7(8) If any alleged violation of this chapter is also an allegation of "abuse" as defined in rule 281-102.2(280), the procedures in 281-Chapter 102 shall be applicable.
- 103.7(9) Schools must provide a copy of this chapter and any school-adopted or school-used related policies, procedures and training materials to any individual who is not an employee but whose duties could require the individual to participate in or be present when physical restraints are or seclusion is being used. Schools must invite these individuals to participate in training offered to employees pursuant to this chapter.

281-103.8(256B,280). Training, documentation, debriefing, and reporting requirements.

103.8(1) Training. An employee must receive training prior to using any form of physical restraint or seclusion. Training shall cover the following topics:

- a. The rules of this chapter;
- b. The school's specific policies and procedures regarding the rules of this chapter;
- c. Student and staff debriefing requirements;
- d. Positive behavior interventions and supports, and evidence-based approaches to student discipline and classroom management;
- e. Research-based alternatives to physical restraint and seclusion;
- f. Crisis prevention, crisis intervention, and crisis de-escalation techniques;
- g. Duties and responsibilities of school resource officers and other responders, and the techniques, strategies and procedures used by responders; and
- h. Safe and effective use of physical restraint and seclusion.
- 103.8(2) Documentation and reporting. Schools must maintain documentation for each occurrence of physical restraint and seclusion. Documentation must contain at least the following information:
 - a. The name of the student;
 - b. The names and job titles of employees who observed, implemented, or were involved in administering or monitoring the use of seclusion or physical restraints, including the administrator or individual who approved continuation of the seclusion or physical restraint pursuant to subparagraph 103.7(2)"c"(2);
 - c. The date of the occurrence;
 - d. The beginning and ending times of the occurrence;
 - e. The date the employees who observed, implemented, or were involved in administering or monitoring the use of seclusion or physical restraints last completed training required by subrule 103.8(1);
 - f. A description of the actions of the student before, during, and after the seclusion or physical restraint;
 - g. A description of the actions of the employee(s) involved before, during, and after the seclusion or physical restraint, including the use of a nonapproved restraint (subparagraph 103.7(2)"c"(5)) or the use of other than a designated seclusion room (paragraph 103.7(2)"d");
 - h. Documentation of approvals for continuation of the seclusion or physical restraint period generated in accordance with subrule 103.7(2), including why it was not possible to obtain approval;
 - i. A description of the less restrictive means attempted as alternatives to seclusion or physical restraint;
 - j. A description of any injuries, whether to the student or others, and any property damage;
 - k. A description of future approaches to address the student's behavior, including any consequences or disciplinary actions that may be imposed on the student; and

I. The time and manner by which the school notified the student's parent of the use of physical restraint or seclusion, including why it was not possible to attempt to give notice within the time specified by paragraph 103.7(2)"b."

Schools must provide the student's parent with a written copy of the report by the end of the third school day following the occurrence. The report shall be accompanied by a letter inviting the parent to participate in a debriefing meeting, if necessary under subrule 103.8(3), to be held within five school days of the day the report and letter are mailed to or provided to the parent. The letter must include the date, time and place of the meeting and the names and titles of employees and other individuals who will attend the meeting. The parent may elect to receive the report and the letter via electronic mail or facsimile or by obtaining a copy at the school. If the parent does not provide instructions to the school or enter into an agreement with the school for alternate dates and methods of delivery, the school must mail the letter and report to the parent by first-class mail, postage prepaid, postmarked by end of the third school day after the occurrence.

103.8(3) Debriefing.

- a. Schools must hold a debriefing meeting as soon as practicable whenever required by paragraph 103.8(3)"f," but within five school days of the day the report and letter are mailed or provided to the parent, unless a parent who wants to participate personally or through a representative asks for an extension of time, or the parent and school agree to an alternate date and time. The student may attend the meeting with the parent's consent. The parent may elect to be accompanied by other individuals or representatives. The meeting must include employees who administered the physical restraint or seclusion, an administrator or employee who was not involved in the occurrence, the individual or administrator who approved continuation of the physical restraint or seclusion, other relevant personnel designated by the school (such as principal, counselor, classroom teacher, special education teacher), and, if indicated by the student's behavior in the instances prompting the debriefing, an expert in behavioral health, mental health, or another appropriate discipline. The meeting, and the debriefing report that is to be provided to the parent after the meeting, must include the following information and subjects:
 - (1) The date and location of the meeting, and the names and titles of the participants;
 - (2) The documentation and report completed in compliance with subrule 103.8(2);
 - (3) A review of the student's BIP, IHP, safety plan, and IEP as applicable;
 - (4) Identification of patterns of behavior and proportionate response, if any, in the student and the employees involved;
 - (5) Determination of possible alternative responses to the incident/less restrictive means, if any;
 - (6) Identification of additional resources that could facilitate those alternative responses in the future;
 - (7) Planning for follow-up actions, such as behavior assessments, revisions of school intervention plans, medical consultations, and reintroduction plans.
- b. Schools must complete the debriefing report and provide a copy of the report to the parent of the student within three school days of the debriefing meeting. The parent may elect to receive the report via electronic mail, or facsimile, or by obtaining a copy at the school. If the parent does not provide instructions to the school or enter into an agreement with the school for alternate dates and methods of delivery, the school must mail the debriefing report to the parent by first-class mail, postage prepaid, postmarked no later than three school days after the debriefing meeting.
- c. If the debriefing session results in a recommendation that a child might be eligible for a BIP, IHP, safety plan, or IEP, the public agencies shall promptly determine the child's eligibility in accordance with the procedures required for determining eligibility, including rules contained in 281-Chapter 14 and 281- Chapter 41, as applicable.

- d. Any recommended change to a student's BIP, IHP, safety plan, or IEP, or a student's educational placement, shall be made in accordance with the procedures required for amending said plan or changing said placement, including rules contained in 281-Chapter 14 and 281-Chapter 41, as applicable.
- e. Nothing in this subrule shall be construed to require employers to include information about employees that would be legally protected personnel information, including employee disciplinary information under lowa Code chapters 279 and 284, or to allow discussion of that personnel information, in debriefing meetings.
- f. For purposes of this subrule, a debriefing session is required:
 - (1) Upon the first instance of seclusion or physical restraint during a school year;
 - (2) Whenever any personal injury occurs as a part of the use of seclusion or physical restraint;
 - (3) Whenever a reasonable educator would determine a debriefing session is necessary;
 - (4) Whenever suggested by a student's IEP team (if any);
 - (5) Whenever agreed by the parent and the school officials.

However, in any case a debriefing session shall occur after seven instances of seclusion or physical restraint. Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to prevent a school from offering more debriefing meetings.

103.8(4) Confidentiality. Schools must comply with the requirements of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)(20 U.S.C. § 1232.g; 34 CFR Part 99), lowa Code chapter 22, "Examination of Public Records (Open Records)," and other applicable federal and state laws, when taking action pursuant to this rule.

103.8(5) Reporting to department. Schools shall report to the lowa department of education, in a manner prescribed by the department, an annual count of all instances of seclusion or restraint, an annual count of the number of students who were subjected to seclusion or restraint, and any other data required for the department to implement the Elementary and Secondary Education Act, as amended by the Every Student Succeeds Act, Public Law 114-95.

281-103.9(256B,280). Seclusion room requirements.

Schools must meet the following standards for the structural and physical requirements for rooms used for seclusion:

- 103.9(1) The room must meet and comply with all applicable building, fire, safety, and health codes and standards and with the other requirements of this rule.
- 103.9(2) The dimensions of the room shall be of adequate width, length, and height to allow the student to move about and recline safely and comfortably, considering the age, size, and physical and mental condition of the student being secluded. The interior of the room must be no less than 56 square feet, and the distance between opposing walls must be no less than 7 feet across.
- 103.9(3) The room must not be isolated from school employees or the facility.
- 103.9(4) Any wall that is part of the room must be part of the structural integrity of the room (not free-standing cells or portable units attached to the existing wall or floor).
- 103.9(5) The room must provide a means of continuous visual and auditory monitoring of the student.
- 103.9(6) The room must be adequately lighted with switches to control lighting located outside the room.
- 103.9(7) The room must be adequately ventilated with switches to control fans or other ventilation devices located outside the room.
- 103.9(8) The room must maintain a temperature within the normal human comfort range and consistent with the rest of the building with temperature controls located outside of the room.

103.9(9) The room must be clean and free of objects and fixtures that could be potentially dangerous to a student, including protruding, exposed, or sharp objects, exposed pipes, electrical wiring, or other objects in the room that could be used by students to harm themselves or to climb up a wall.

103.9(10) The room must contain no free-standing furniture.

103.9(11) The room must be constructed of materials safe for its intended use, including wall and floor coverings designed to prevent injury to the student. Interior finish of the seclusion room shall comply with the state and local building and fire codes and standards.

103.9(12) Doors must open outward. The door shall not be fitted with a lock unless it releases automatically when not physically held in the locked position by personnel on the outside of the door and permits the door to be opened from the inside. Doors, when fully open, shall not reduce the required corridor width by more than seven inches. Doors in any position shall not reduce the required width by more than one-half.

103.9(13) The room must be able to be opened from the inside immediately upon the release of a security mechanism held in place by constant human contact.

103.9(14) Windows, if any, must be transparent and made of unbreakable or shatterproof glass or plastic.

103.9(15) By July 1, 2021, schools must consult with appropriate state and local building, fire, safety, and health officials to ensure the room complies with all applicable codes and standards (for example, heating, ventilation, lighting, accessibility, dimensions, access, entry and exit, fire suppression, etc.), and maintain documentation of such consultation and compliance and approval.

103.9(16) Assuming approval pursuant to subrule 103.9(15), a school may continue to use a room that otherwise complies with this rule but for subrule 103.9(2) for a period of five years from January 20, 2021, or whenever the portion of the school containing the room is renovated or remodeled, whichever occurs first.

281-103.10(256B,280). Department responsibilities.

The department shall develop, establish, and distribute to all school districts evidence-based standards, guidelines, and expectations for the appropriate and inappropriate responses to behavior in the classroom that presents an imminent threat of bodily injury to a student or another person and for the reasonable, necessary, and appropriate physical restraint of a student, consistent with these rules.

The director of the department shall consult with the area education agencies to create comprehensive and consistent standards and guidance for professional development relating to successfully educating individuals in the least restrictive environment, and for evidence-based interventions consistent with the standards established pursuant to this subsection.

281-12.3(13). Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy.

12.3(6) Student responsibility and discipline. The board shall adopt student responsibility and discipline policies as required by Iowa Code section 279.8. The board shall involve parents, students, instructional and noninstructional professional staff, and community members in the development and revision of those policies where practicable or unless specific policy is mandated by legislation. The policies shall relate to the educational purposes of the school or school district. The policies shall include, but are not limited to, the following: attendance; use of tobacco; the use or possession of alcoholic beverages or any controlled substance; harassment of or by students and staff as detailed in subrule 12.3(13); violent, destructive, and seriously disruptive behavior; suspension, expulsion, emergency removal, weapons, and physical restraint; out-of-school behavior; participation in extracurricular activities; academic progress; and citizenship.

282-26.3(272). Responsibilities.

Educators licensed under Iowa Code chapter 272 have the following responsibilities:

5. The educator shall not, without just cause, restrain a student from independent action in the pursuit of learning and shall not, without just cause, deny a student access to varying points of view.

Exclusionary Discipline: Suspension, Expulsion, and Alternative Placement

Grounds for Suspension or Expulsion

LAWS

279.9. Use of tobacco, alcoholic beverages, or controlled substances.

The rules shall prohibit the use of tobacco and the use or possession of alcoholic liquor, wine, or beer or any controlled substance as defined in section 124.101, subsection 5, by any student of the schools and the board may suspend or expel a student for a violation of a rule under this section.

280.17B. Students suspended or expelled for possession of dangerous weapons.

The board of directors of a public school and the authorities in control of a nonpublic school shall prescribe procedures for continued school involvement with a student who is suspended or expelled for possession of a dangerous weapon, as defined in section 702.7, on school premises in violation of state law and for the reintegration of the student into the school following the suspension or expulsion.

280.21B. Expulsion - weapons in school.

The board of directors of a school district and the authorities in charge of a nonpublic school which receives services supported by federal funds shall expel from school for a period of not less than one year a student who is determined to have brought a weapon to a school or knowingly possessed a weapon at a school under the jurisdiction of the board or the authorities. However, the superintendent or chief administering officer of a school or school district may modify expulsion requirements on a case-by-case basis. This section shall not be construed to prevent the board of directors of a school district or the authorities in charge of a nonpublic school that have expelled a student from the student's regular school setting from providing educational services to the student in an alternative setting. If both this section and section 282.4 apply, this section takes precedence over section 282.4. For purposes of this section, "weapon" means a firearm as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 921. This section shall be construed in a manner consistent with the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq.

282.4. Suspension - expulsion.

- 1. The board may, by a majority vote, expel any student from school for a violation of the regulations or rules established by the board, or when the presence of the student is detrimental to the best interests of the school. The board may confer upon any teacher, principal, or superintendent the power temporarily to suspend a student, notice of the suspension being at once given in writing to the president of the board.
- 2. A student who commits an assault, as defined under section 708.1, against a school employee in a school building, on school grounds, or at a school-sponsored function shall be suspended for a time to be determined by the principal. Notice of the suspension shall be immediately sent to the president of the board. By special meeting or at the next regularly scheduled board meeting, the board shall review the suspension and decide whether to hold a disciplinary hearing to determine whether or not to order further sanctions against the student, which may include expelling the student. In making its decision, the board shall consider the best interests of the school district, which shall include what is best to protect and ensure the safety of the school employees and students from the student committing the assault.
- 3. A student shall not be suspended or expelled pursuant to this section if the suspension or expulsion would violate the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act.
- 4. Notwithstanding section 282.6, if a student has been expelled or suspended from school and has not met the conditions of the expulsion or suspension, the student shall not be permitted to enroll in a school

district until the board of directors of the school district approves, by a majority vote, the enrollment of the student.

287.3 Suspension or dismissal.

The directors of such schools shall have full power and authority, pursuant to the adoption of such rules and regulations made and adopted by them, to suspend or dismiss any pupil or pupils of such schools therefrom, or to prevent them, or any of them, from graduating or participating in school honors when, after investigation, in the judgment of such directors, or a majority of them, such pupil or pupils are guilty of violating any of the provisions of section 287.1, or are guilty of violating any rule, rules, or regulations adopted by such directors for the purpose of governing such schools or enforcing said section.

REGULATIONS

281-41.534(256B,34CFR300) Protections for children not determined eligible for special education and related services.

- 41.534(1) General. A child who has not been determined to be eligible for special education and related services under this chapter and who has engaged in behavior that violated a code of student conduct may assert any of the protections provided for in this chapter if the public agency had knowledge, as determined in accordance with subrule 41.534(2), that the child was a child with a disability before the behavior that precipitated the disciplinary action occurred.
- 41.534(2) Basis of knowledge. A public agency must be deemed to have knowledge that a child is a child with a disability if before the behavior that precipitated the disciplinary action occurred any of the following occurred:
 - a. The parent of the child expressed concern in writing to supervisory or administrative personnel of the appropriate educational agency or to a teacher of the child that the child is in need of special education and related services;
 - b. The parent of the child requested an evaluation of the child pursuant to this chapter; or
 - c. The teacher of the child, or other personnel of the LEA, expressed specific concerns about a pattern of behavior demonstrated by the child directly to the director of special education of the agency or to other supervisory personnel of the agency.
- 41.534(3) Exception. A public agency would not be deemed to have knowledge under subrule 41.534(2) under the following conditions:
 - a. The parent of the child has not allowed an evaluation of the child pursuant to this chapter or has refused services under Part B of the Act or this chapter; or
 - b. The child has been evaluated in accordance with this chapter and determined not to be a child with a disability under Part B of the Act and this chapter.
- 41.534(4) Conditions that apply if no basis of knowledge.
 - a. General. If a public agency does not have knowledge that a child is a child with a disability, in accordance with subrules 41.534(2) and 41.534(3), prior to taking disciplinary measures against the child, the child may be subjected to the disciplinary measures applied to children without disabilities who engage in comparable behaviors consistent with paragraph 41.534(4)"b." b. Request for evaluation.
 - (1) If a request is made for an evaluation of a child during the time period in which the child is subjected to disciplinary measures under rule 281-41.530(256B,34CFR300), the evaluation must be conducted in an expedited manner.
 - (2) Until the evaluation is completed, the child remains in the educational placement determined by school authorities, which can include suspension or expulsion without educational services.

(3) If the child is determined to be a child with a disability, taking into consideration information from the evaluation conducted by the agency and information provided by the parents, the agency must provide special education and related services in accordance with Part B of the Act and this chapter, including the requirements of rules 281-41.530(256B,34CFR300) to 281-41.536(256B,34CFR300) and Section 612(a)(1)(A) of the Act.

Limitations or Conditions on Exclusionary Discipline

LAWS

282.4. Suspension - expulsion.

- 1. The board may, by a majority vote, expel any student from school for a violation of the regulations or rules established by the board, or when the presence of the student is detrimental to the best interests of the school. The board may confer upon any teacher, principal, or superintendent the power temporarily to suspend a student, notice of the suspension being at once given in writing to the president of the board.
- 2. A student who commits an assault, as defined under section 708.1, against a school employee in a school building, on school grounds, or at a school-sponsored function shall be suspended for a time to be determined by the principal. Notice of the suspension shall be immediately sent to the president of the board. By special meeting or at the next regularly scheduled board meeting, the board shall review the suspension and decide whether to hold a disciplinary hearing to determine whether or not to order further sanctions against the student, which may include expelling the student. In making its decision, the board shall consider the best interests of the school district, which shall include what is best to protect and ensure the safety of the school employees and students from the student committing the assault.
- 3. A student shall not be suspended or expelled pursuant to this section if the suspension or expulsion would violate the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act.
- 4. Notwithstanding section 282.6, if a student has been expelled or suspended from school and has not met the conditions of the expulsion or suspension, the student shall not be permitted to enroll in a school district until the board of directors of the school district approves, by a majority vote, the enrollment of the student.

REGULATIONS

281-41.101(256B,34CFR300). Free appropriate public education (FAPE).

41.101(1) General. A free appropriate public education must be available to all children residing in the state for the time period permitted by Iowa Code chapter 256B, including children with disabilities who have been suspended or expelled from school, as provided for in subrule 41.530(4).

Due Process

LAWS

282.4. Suspension - expulsion.

2. A student who commits an assault, as defined under section 708.1, against a school employee in a school building, on school grounds, or at a school-sponsored function shall be suspended for a time to be determined by the principal. Notice of the suspension shall be immediately sent to the president of the board. By special meeting or at the next regularly scheduled board meeting, the board shall review the suspension and decide whether to hold a disciplinary hearing to determine whether or not to order further sanctions against the student, which may include expelling the student. In making its decision, the board shall consider the best interests of the school district, which shall include what is best to protect and ensure the safety of the school employees and students from the student committing the assault.

290.1 Appeal to state board.

An affected pupil, or the parent or guardian of an affected pupil who is a minor, who is aggrieved by a decision or order of the board of directors of a school corporation in a matter of law or fact, or a decision or order of a board of directors under section 282.18, subsection 3B, may, within thirty days after the rendition of the decision or the making of the order, appeal the decision or order to the state board of education; the basis of the proceedings shall be an affidavit filed with the state board by the party aggrieved within the time for taking the appeal, which affidavit shall set forth any error complained of in a plain and concise manner.

REGULATIONS

281-12.3(13). Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy.

12.3(6) Student responsibility and discipline. The board shall adopt student responsibility and discipline policies as required by Iowa Code section 279.8. The board shall involve parents, students, instructional and noninstructional professional staff, and community members in the development and revision of those policies where practicable or unless specific policy is mandated by legislation. The policies shall relate to the educational purposes of the school or school district. The policies shall include, but are not limited to, the following: attendance; use of tobacco; the use or possession of alcoholic beverages or any controlled substance; harassment of or by students and staff as detailed in subrule 12.3(13); violent, destructive, and seriously disruptive behavior; suspension, expulsion, emergency removal, weapons, and physical restraint; out-of-school behavior; participation in extracurricular activities; academic progress; and citizenship.

The policies shall ensure due process rights for students and parents, including consideration for students who have been identified as requiring special education programs and services.

Return to School Following Removal

LAWS

275.55A. Attendance in other district.

A student enrolled in ninth, tenth, or eleventh grade during the school year preceding the effective date of a dissolution proposal, who was a resident of the school district that dissolved, may enroll in a school district to which territory of the school district that dissolved was attached until the student's graduation from high school, unless the student was expelled or suspended from school and the conditions of expulsion or suspension have not been met. The student under expulsion or suspension shall not be enrolled until the board of directors of the school district to which territory of the dissolved school district was attached approves, by majority vote, the enrollment of the student. Notwithstanding section 282.24, the district of residence of the student, determined in the dissolution proposal, shall pay tuition to the school district selected by the student in an amount not to exceed the district cost per pupil of the district of residence and the school district selected by the student shall accept that tuition payment and enroll the student.

279.82. Intra-district enrollment.

5. If a student, for whom a request to transfer has been filed with the school district, has been suspended or expelled in the school district, the student shall not be permitted to transfer until the student has been reinstated. Once the student has been reinstated, however, the student shall be permitted to transfer in the same manner as if the student had not been suspended or expelled. If a student, for whom a request to transfer has been filed with a school district, is expelled in the school district, the student shall be permitted to transfer under this section if the student applies for and is reinstated. However, if the student applies for reinstatement but is not reinstated in the school district, the school district may deny the request to transfer. The decision of the school district may be appealed to the board of directors of the school district.

279.9A. Student transfers - information sharing

The rules referred to in section 279.9 shall provide that upon the request of school officials of a school to which the student seeks to transfer or has transferred, school officials of the sending school shall provide an

accurate record of any suspension or expulsion actions taken, and the basis for those actions taken, against the student under sections 279.9, 280.19A, 280.21B, 282.3, 282.4, and 282.5. The designated representative shall disclose this information only to those school employees whose duties require them to be involved with the student. For purposes of this section, "school employees" means persons employed by a nonpublic school or school district, or any area education agency staff member who provides services to a school or school district.

280.17B. Students suspended or expelled for possession of dangerous weapons.

The board of directors of a public school and the authorities in control of a nonpublic school shall prescribe procedures for continued school involvement with a student who is suspended or expelled for possession of a dangerous weapon, as defined in section 702.7, on school premises in violation of state law and for the reintegration of the student into the school following the suspension or expulsion.

Suspension - expulsion.

4. Notwithstanding section 282.6, if a student has been expelled or suspended from school and has not met the conditions of the expulsion or suspension, the student shall not be permitted to enroll in a school district until the board of directors of the school district approves, by a majority vote, the enrollment of the student.

282.5. Readmission of student.

When a student is suspended by a teacher, principal, or superintendent, pursuant to section 282.4, the student may be readmitted by the teacher, principal, or superintendent when the conditions of the suspension have been met, but when expelled by the board the student may be readmitted only by the board or in the manner prescribed by the board.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Alternative Placements

LAWS

257.38. Funding for at-risk, alternative school, and returning dropouts and dropout prevention programs - plan.

- 1. Boards of school districts, individually or jointly with boards of other school districts, requesting to use a modified supplemental amount for costs in excess of the amount received under section 257.11, subsection 4, for programs for at-risk students, secondary students who attend alternative programs and alternative schools, and returning dropouts and dropout prevention, shall approve, by resolution, comprehensive program plans for the programs and budget costs, including annual requests for a modified supplemental amount for funding the programs. The program plans shall include:
 - a. Program goals, objectives, and activities to meet the needs of students identified as at risk, secondary students who attend alternative programs and alternative schools, or potential dropouts or returning dropouts.

257.39. Definitions – potential dropouts and returning dropouts

As used in this chapter:

- 1. "Potential dropouts" are resident pupils who are enrolled in a public or nonpublic school who demonstrate poor school adjustment as indicated by two or more of the following:
 - a. High rate of absenteeism, truancy, or frequent tardiness.
 - b. Limited or no extracurricular participation or lack of identification with school, including but not limited to expressed feelings of not belonging.

- c. Poor grades, including but not limited to failing in one or more school subjects or grade levels.
- d. Low achievement scores in reading or mathematics which reflect achievement at two years or more below grade level.
- e. Children in grades kindergarten through three who meet the definition of at-risk children adopted by the department of education.
- 2. "Returning dropouts" are resident pupils who have been enrolled in a public or nonpublic school in any of grades seven through twelve who withdrew from school for a reason other than transfer to another school or school district and who subsequently enrolled in a public school in the district.

280.19A. Alternative options education programs - disclosure of records.

- 1. By January 15, 1995, each school district shall adopt a plan to provide alternative options education programs to students who are either at risk of dropping out or have dropped out. An alternative options education program may be provided in a district, through a sharing agreement with a school in a contiguous district, or through an areawide program available at the community college serving the merged area in which the school district is located. Each area education agency shall provide assistance in establishing a plan to provide alternative education options to students attending a public school in a district served by the agency.
- 2. If a district has not adopted a plan as required in this section and implemented the plan by January 15, 1996, the area education agency serving the district shall assist the district with developing a plan and an alternative options education program for the pupil. When a plan is developed, the district shall be responsible for the operation of the program and shall reimburse the area education agency for the actual costs incurred by the area education agency under this section.
- 3. Notwithstanding section 22.7, subsection 1, records kept regarding a student who has participated in a program under this section shall be requested by school officials of a public or nonpublic receiving school in which the student seeks to enroll, and shall be provided by the sending school. A school official who receives information under this section shall disclose this information only to those school officials and employees whose duties require them to be involved with the student. A school official or employee who discloses information received under this section in violation of this subsection shall be subject to disciplinary action, including but not limited to reprimand, suspension, or termination. "School officials and employees" means those officials and persons employed by a nonpublic school or public school district, and area education agency staff members who provide services to schools or school districts.

280.21B. Expulsion - weapons in school.

The board of directors of a school district and the authorities in charge of a nonpublic school which receives services supported by federal funds shall expel from school for a period of not less than one year a student who is determined to have brought a weapon to a school or knowingly possessed a weapon at a school under the jurisdiction of the board or the authorities. However, the superintendent or chief administering officer of a school or school district may modify expulsion requirements on a case-by-case basis. This section shall not be construed to prevent the board of directors of a school district or the authorities in charge of a nonpublic school that have expelled a student from the student's regular school setting from providing educational services to the student in an alternative setting. If both this section and section 282.4 apply, this section takes precedence over section 282.4. For purposes of this section, "weapon" means a firearm as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 921. This section shall be construed in a manner consistent with the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq.

REGULATIONS

281-12.2(256). Definitions.

For purposes of these rules, the following definitions shall apply:

- "Alternative options education programs" means alternative programs or schools as identified in Iowa Code section 280.19A.
- "Alternative program" means a class or environment established within the regular educational program and designed to accommodate specific student educational needs such as, but not limited to, work-related training; reading, mathematics or science skills; communication skills; social skills; physical skills; employability skills; study skills; or life skills.
- "Alternative school" means an environment established apart from the regular educational program and that includes policies and rules, staff, and resources designed to accommodate student needs and to provide a comprehensive education consistent with the student learning goals and content standards established by the school district or by the school districts participating in a consortium. Students attend by choice.

"Annual improvement goals" means the desired one-year.

281-41.530(256B,34CFR300) Authority of school personnel.

- 41.530(1) Case-by-case determination. School personnel may consider any unique circumstances on a case-by-case basis when determining whether a change in placement, consistent with the other requirements of this rule, is appropriate for a child with a disability who violates a code of student conduct. 41.530(2) General.
 - a. School personnel under this rule may remove a child with a disability who violates a code of student conduct from his or her current placement to an appropriate interim alternative educational setting, another setting, or suspension, for not more than ten consecutive school days, to the extent those alternatives are applied to children without disabilities, and for additional removals of not more than ten consecutive school days in that same school year for separate incidents of misconduct, as long as those removals do not constitute a change of placement under rule 281-41.536(256B,34CFR300).
 - b. After a child with a disability has been removed from his or her current placement for ten school days in the same school year, during any subsequent days of removal the public agency must provide services to the extent required under subrule 41.530(4).
- 41.530(3) Additional authority. For disciplinary changes in placement that would exceed ten consecutive school days, if the behavior that gave rise to the violation of the school code is determined not to be a manifestation of the child's disability pursuant to subrule 41.530(5), school personnel may apply the relevant disciplinary procedures to children with disabilities in the same manner and for the same duration as the procedures would be applied to children without disabilities, except as provided in subrule 41.530(4). 41.530(4) Services.
 - a. A child with a disability who is removed from the child's current placement pursuant to subrule 41.530(3) or 41.530(7) must receive the following:
 - (1) Educational services, as provided in subrule 41.101(1), so as to enable the child to continue to participate in the general education curriculum, although in another setting, and to progress toward meeting the goals set out in the child's IEP; and
 - (2) As appropriate, a functional behavioral assessment, and behavioral intervention services and modifications, that are designed to address the behavior violation so that it does not recur.
 - b. The services required by paragraphs 41.530(4)"a" and "c" to "e" may be provided in an interim alternative educational setting.
 - c. A public agency is required to provide services during periods of removal to a child with a disability who has been removed from his or her current placement for ten school days or less in that school year, only if it provides services to a child without disabilities who is similarly removed.
 - d. After a child with a disability has been removed from his or her current placement for ten school days in the same school year, if the current removal is for not more than ten consecutive school days and is not a change of placement under rule 281-41.536(256B,34CFR300), school personnel, in consultation with at

least one of the child's teachers, shall determine the extent to which services are needed, as provided in subrule 41.101(1), so as to enable the child to continue to participate in the general education curriculum, although in another setting, and to progress toward meeting the goals set out in the child's IEP.

- e. If the removal is a change of placement under rule 281-41.536(256B,34CFR300), the child's IEP team determines appropriate services under paragraph 41.530(4)"a."
- 41.530(5) Manifestation determination.
 - a. Within ten school days of any decision to change the placement of a child with a disability because of a violation of a code of student conduct, the AEA, the LEA, the parent, and relevant members of the child's IEP team, as determined by the parent and the AEA and LEA, must review all relevant information in the student's file, including the child's IEP, any teacher observations, and any relevant information provided by the parents to determine:
 - (1) If the conduct in question was caused by, or had a direct and substantial relationship to, the child's disability; or
 - (2) If the conduct in question was the direct result of the failure by the AEA or LEA to implement the IEP.
 - b. The conduct must be determined to be a manifestation of the child's disability if the AEA, the LEA, the parent, and relevant members of the child's IEP team determine that a condition in either subparagraph 41.530(5)"a"(1) or (2) was met.
 - c. If the AEA, the LEA, the parent, and relevant members of the child's IEP team determine the condition described in subparagraph 41.530(5)"a"(2) was met, the public agency must take immediate steps to remedy those deficiencies.
- 41.530(6) Determination that behavior was a manifestation. If the AEA, the LEA, the parent, and relevant members of the IEP team make the determination that the conduct was a manifestation of the child's disability, the IEP team must proceed as follows:
 - a. Conduct a functional behavioral assessment, unless the AEA or LEA had conducted a functional behavioral assessment before the behavior that resulted in the change of placement occurred, and implement a behavioral intervention plan for the child; or
 - b. If a behavioral intervention plan already has been developed, review the behavioral intervention plan and modify it, as necessary, to address the behavior; and
 - c. Except as provided in subrule 41.530(7), return the child to the placement from which the child was removed, unless the parent and the public agency agree to a change of placement as part of the modification of the behavioral intervention plan.
- 41.530(7) Special circumstances. School personnel may remove a student to an interim alternative educational setting for not more than 45 school days without regard to whether the behavior is determined to be a manifestation of the child's disability, if the child:
 - a. Carries a weapon to or possesses a weapon at school, on school premises, or to or at a school function under the jurisdiction of an SEA or an LEA;
 - b. Knowingly possesses or uses illegal drugs, or sells or solicits the sale of a controlled substance, while at school, on school premises, or at a school function under the jurisdiction of an SEA or an LEA; or
 - c. Has inflicted serious bodily injury upon another person while at school, on school premises, or at a school function under the jurisdiction of an SEA or an LEA.
- 41.530(8) Notification. On the date on which the decision is made to make a removal that constitutes a change of placement of a child with a disability because of a violation of a code of student conduct, the LEA must notify the parents of that decision and provide the parents the procedural safeguards notice described in rule 281-41.504(256B,34CFR300).
- 41.530(9) Definitions. For purposes of this rule, the following definitions apply:

- a. Controlled substance. "Controlled substance" means a drug or other substance identified under Schedule I, II, III, IV, or V in Section 202(c) of the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. 812(c)).
- b. Illegal drug. "Illegal drug" means a controlled substance; but does not include a controlled substance that is legally possessed or used under the supervision of a licensed health care professional or that is legally possessed or used under any other authority under that Act or under any other provision of federal law.
- c. Serious bodily injury. "Serious bodily injury" has the meaning given the term "serious bodily injury" under paragraph (3) of subsection (h) of <u>Section 1365 of Title 18</u>, <u>United States Code</u>.
- d. Weapon. "Weapon" has the meaning given the term "dangerous weapon" under paragraph (2) of the first subsection (g) of <u>Section 930 of Title 18</u>, <u>United States Code</u>. A "weapon" under lowa law is not necessarily a weapon for purposes of this rule unless it meets this definition of a "dangerous weapon."

281-41.536(256B,34CFR300). Change of placement because of disciplinary removals.

- 41.536(1) General. For purposes of removals of a child with a disability from the child's current educational placement under rules 281-41.530(256B,34CFR300) to 281-41.535(256B,34CFR300), a change of placement occurs under the following circumstances:
 - a. The removal is for more than ten consecutive school days; or
 - b. The child has been subjected to a series of removals that constitute a pattern based on the following:
 - (1) The series of removals total more than ten school days in a school year;
 - (2) The child's behavior is substantially similar to the child's behavior in previous incidents that resulted in the series of removals; and
 - (3) Additional factors, such as the length of each removal, the total amount of time the child has been removed, and the proximity of the removals to one another.
- 41.536(2) Rules of construction.
 - a. The public agency determines on a case-by-case basis whether a pattern of removals constitutes a change of placement.
 - b. This determination is subject to review through due process and judicial proceedings.
 - c. Nothing in this rule shall be construed to prohibit LEAs from establishing policies that a change of placement occurs on the eleventh cumulative day of removal, regardless of the factors set forth in paragraph 41.536(1)"b."
- 41.536(3) In-school suspensions and other actions. In determining whether an in-school suspension or other disciplinary action is to be considered a removal for purposes of this rule, an in-school suspension or other disciplinary action will not be considered a removal if all three of the following questions are answered in the affirmative:
 - a. Will the child be able to appropriately participate in the general education curriculum?
 - b. Will the child be able to receive the services specified in the child's IEP?
 - c. Will the child be able to participate with children without disabilities to the extent provided in the child's current placement?

Discipline Addressing Specific Code of Conduct Violations

Firearms and Other Weapons Violations

LAWS

280.17A. Procedures for handling dangerous weapons.

The board of directors of a public school and the authorities in control of a nonpublic school shall prescribe procedures requiring school officials to report to local law enforcement agencies any dangerous weapon, as defined in section 702.7, possessed on school premises in violation of school policy or state law.

280.17B. Students suspended or expelled for possession of dangerous weapons.

The board of directors of a public school and the authorities in control of a nonpublic school shall prescribe procedures for continued school involvement with a student who is suspended or expelled for possession of a dangerous weapon, as defined in section 702.7, on school premises in violation of state law and for the reintegration of the student into the school following the suspension or expulsion.

280.21B. Expulsion - weapons in school.

The board of directors of a school district and the authorities in charge of a nonpublic school which receives services supported by federal funds shall expel from school for a period of not less than one year a student who is determined to have brought a weapon to a school or knowingly possessed a weapon at a school under the jurisdiction of the board or the authorities. However, the superintendent or chief administering officer of a school or school district may modify expulsion requirements on a case-by-case basis. This section shall not be construed to prevent the board of directors of a school district or the authorities in charge of a nonpublic school that have expelled a student from the student's regular school setting from providing educational services to the student in an alternative setting. If both this section and section 282.4 apply, this section takes precedence over section 282.4. For purposes of this section, "weapon" means a firearm as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 921. This section shall be construed in a manner consistent with the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seg.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Students with Chronic Disciplinary Issues

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Chronic Absenteeism and Truancy

LAWS

299.5A. Mediation.

1. If a child is truant as defined in section 299.8, school officers shall attempt to find the cause for the child's absence and use every means available to the school to assure that the child does attend. For a child who has completed educational requirements through the sixth grade, the means may include but are not limited to the use of an attendance cooperation process which substantially conforms with the provisions of section 299.12. If the parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian, or child refuses to

accept the school's attempt to assure the child's attendance or the school's attempt to assure the child's attendance is otherwise unsuccessful, the truancy officer shall refer the matter to the county attorney for mediation or prosecution.

- 2. If the matter is referred for mediation, the county attorney shall cause a notice of the referral to be sent to the parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian and designate a person to serve as mediator in the matter. If mediation services are available in the community, those services may be used as the designated mediation service. If mediation services are not available in the community, mediation shall be provided by the county attorney or the county attorney's designee. The mediator shall contact the school, the parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian, and any other person the mediator deems appropriate in the matter and arrange meeting dates and times for discussion of the child's nonattendance. The mediator shall attempt to ascertain the cause of the child's nonattendance, attempt to cause the parties to arrive at an agreement relative to the child's attendance, and initiate referrals to any agencies or counseling that the mediator believes to be appropriate under the circumstances.
- 3. If the parties reach an agreement, the agreement shall be reduced to writing and signed by a school officer, parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian, and the child. The mediator, the school, and the parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian shall each receive a copy of the agreement, which shall set forth the settlement of the issues and future responsibilities of each party.
- 4. The school district shall be responsible for monitoring any agreements arrived at through mediation. If a parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian refuses to engage in mediation or violates a term of the agreement, the matter shall be rereferred to the county attorney for prosecution under section 299.6. The county attorney's office or the mediation service shall require the parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian and the school to pay a fee to help defray the administrative cost of mediation services. The county attorney's office or the mediation service shall establish a sliding scale of fees to be charged parents, guardians, and legal or actual custodians based upon ability to pay. A parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian shall not be denied the services of a mediator solely because of inability to pay the fee.
- 5. The mediator may refer a truant to the juvenile court if mediation breaks down without an agreement being reached.

"Truant" defined.

Any child of compulsory attendance age who fails to attend school as provided in this chapter, or as required by the school board's or school governing body's attendance policy, or who fails to attend competent private instruction or independent private instruction under chapter 299A, without reasonable excuse for the absence, shall be deemed to be a truant. A finding that a child is truant, however, shall not by itself mean that the child is a child in need of assistance within the meaning of chapter 232 and shall not be the sole basis for a child in need of assistance petition.

Truants - rules for punishment.

The board of directors of a public school district or the authorities in charge of an accredited nonpublic school shall prescribe reasonable rules for the punishment of truants.

232.192. Early intervention and follow-up programs.

Contingent on a specific appropriation for juvenile delinquent graduated sanctions services, juvenile court services shall do the following:

b. Develop or expand a school-based program addressing truancy and school behavioral problems for youth ages twelve through seventeen.

280.25. Information sharing - interagency agreements.

2. The purpose of the agreement shall be to reduce juvenile crime by promoting cooperation and collaboration and the sharing of appropriate information among the parties in a joint effort to improve school safety, reduce alcohol and illegal drug use, reduce truancy, reduce in-school and out-of-school

suspensions, and to support alternatives to in-school and out-of-school suspensions and expulsions which provide structured and well-supervised educational programs supplemented by coordinated and appropriate services designed to correct behaviors that lead to truancy, suspension, and expulsions and to support students in successfully completing their education.

Truancy officers - appointment.

The board of each school district may appoint a truancy officer. The board of each school district, which does not appoint a truancy officer for the district, shall designate a suitable person to collect information on the numbers of children in the district who are truant.

The board may appoint a member of the police force, marshal, teacher, school official, or other suitable person to serve as the district truancy officer.

Duties of truancy officer.

- 1. The truancy officer may take into custody without warrant any apparently truant child and place the child in the charge of the school principal, or the principal's designee, designated by the board of directors of the school district in which the child resides, or in the charge of any nonpublic school or any authority providing competent private instruction or independent private instruction as defined in section 299A.1, designated by the parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian; but if it is other than a public school, the instruction and maintenance of the child shall be without expense to the school district. If a child is taken into custody under this section, the truancy officer shall make every reasonable attempt to immediately notify the parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian of the child's location.
- 2. The truancy officer shall promptly institute proceedings against any person violating any of the provisions of sections 299.1 through 299.5A.

Violation of attendance policy - attendance cooperation meeting - agreement.

- 1. For the purposes of this section, "school truancy officer" means a truancy officer appointed under section 299.10 or any other person designated by a public school board or a governing body of an accredited nonpublic school to administer provisions of this section.
- 2. This section is not applicable to a child who is receiving competent private instruction or independent private instruction in accordance with the requirements of chapter 299A. If a child is not in compliance with the attendance requirements established under section 299.1, and has not completed educational requirements through the sixth grade, and the school has used every means available to assure the child does attend, the school truancy officer shall contact the child's parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian to participate in an attendance cooperation meeting. The parties to the attendance cooperation meeting may include the child and shall include the child's parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian and the school truancy officer. The school truancy officer contacting the participants in the attendance cooperation meeting may invite other school officials, a designee of the juvenile court, the county attorney or the county attorney's designee, or other persons deemed appropriate to participate in the attendance cooperation meeting.
- 3. The purpose of the attendance cooperation meeting is for the parties participating in the meeting to attempt to ascertain the cause of the child's nonattendance, to cause the parties to arrive at an agreement relative to addressing the child's attendance, and to initiate referrals to any services or counseling that the parties believe to be appropriate under the circumstances. The terms agreed to shall be reduced to writing in an attendance cooperation agreement and signed by the parties to the agreement. Each party signing the agreement shall receive a copy of the agreement, which shall set forth the cause identified for the child's nonattendance and future responsibilities of each party.
- 4. If the parties to an attendance cooperation meeting determine that a monitor would improve compliance with the attendance cooperation agreement, the parties may designate a person to monitor the agreement. The monitor shall be a designee of the public school board or governing body of the accredited nonpublic school. The monitor may be a volunteer if the volunteer is approved by all parties

to the agreement and receives a written authorization for access to confidential information and for performing monitor activities from the child's parent, guardian, or custodian. A monitor shall contact parties to the attendance cooperation agreement on a periodic basis as appropriate to monitor performance of the agreement.

- 5. If the parties fail to enter into an attendance cooperation agreement, or the child's parent, guardian, or custodian acting as a party violates a term of the attendance cooperation agreement or fails to participate in an attendance cooperation meeting, the child shall be deemed to be truant.
- 6. A public school board or governing body of an accredited nonpublic school shall exercise the authority granted under this section as a means of increasing and ensuring school attendance of young children, as education is a critical element in the success of individuals and good attendance habits should be developed and reinforced at an early age.

299.15. Reports by school officers and employees.

All school officers and employees shall promptly report to the secretary of the school corporation any violations of the truancy law of which they have knowledge, and the § 299.15, secretary shall inform the president of the board of directors who shall, if necessary, call a meeting of the board to take such action thereon as the facts justify.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Substance Use

LAWS

279.9. Use of tobacco, alcoholic beverages, or controlled substances.

The rules shall prohibit the use of tobacco and the use or possession of alcoholic liquor, wine, or beer or any controlled substance as defined in section 124.101, subsection 5, by any student of the schools and the board may suspend or expel a student for a violation of a rule under this section.

280.24. Procedures for reporting drug or alcohol possession or use.

The board of directors of each public school and the authorities in charge of each accredited nonpublic school shall prescribe procedures to report any use or possession of alcoholic liquor, wine, or beer or any controlled substance on school premises to local law enforcement agencies, if the use or possession is in violation of school policy or state law. The procedures may include a provision which does not require a report when the school officials have determined that a school at-risk or other student assistance program would be jeopardized if a student self reports.

REGULATIONS

281-12.3(13). Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy.

12.3(6) Student responsibility and discipline. The board shall adopt student responsibility and discipline policies as required by Iowa Code section 279.8. The board shall involve parents, students, instructional and noninstructional professional staff, and community members in the development and revision of those policies where practicable or unless specific policy is mandated by legislation. The policies shall relate to the educational purposes of the school or school district. The policies shall include, but are not limited to, the following: attendance; use of tobacco; the use or possession of alcoholic beverages or any controlled substance; harassment of or by students and staff as detailed in subrule 12.3(13); violent, destructive, and seriously disruptive behavior; suspension, expulsion, emergency removal, weapons, and physical restraint; out-of-school behavior; participation in extracurricular activities; academic progress; and citizenship.

Gang-related Activity

LAWS

279.58. School dress code policies.

- 1. The general assembly finds and declares that the students and the administrative and instructional staffs of lowa's public schools have the right to be safe and secure at school. Gang-related apparel worn at school draws attention away from the school's learning environment and directs it toward thoughts or expressions of violence, bigotry, hate, and abuse.
- 2. The board of directors of a school district may adopt, for the district or for an individual school within the district, a dress code policy that prohibits students from wearing gang-related or other specific apparel if the board determines that the policy is necessary for the health, safety, or positive educational environment of students and staff in the school environment or for the appropriate discipline and operation of the school. Adoption and enforcement of a dress code policy is not a violation of section 280.22.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Bullying, Harassment, or Hazing

LAWS

279.82. Intra-district enrollment.

1. A parent or guardian of a student enrolled in a school district may enroll the student in another attendance center within the same school district that offers classes at the student's grade level in the manner provided in this section if, as a result of viewing a recording created by a video surveillance system or a report from a school district employee, and consistent with the requirements of the federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1232g, and any regulations promulgated pursuant to that Act, the school district determines that any student enrolled in the school district has harassed or bullied the student. For purposes of this subsection, "harassment" and "bullying" mean the same as defined in section 280.28.

2.

- a. A parent or guardian shall send notification to the school district, on forms prescribed by the department of education, that the parent or guardian intends to enroll the student in another attendance center within the same school district that offers classes at the student's grade level.
- b. The school district shall enroll the student in another attendance center within the same school district unless the attendance center has insufficient classroom space for the student. If the request is granted, the school district shall transmit a copy of the form to the parent or guardian within five days after the school district's action. The parent or guardian may withdraw the request at any time prior to the school district's action on the request. A denial of a request by the school district may be appealed to the board of directors of the school district.
- c. The board of directors of each school district shall adopt a policy that defines the term "insufficient classroom space" for that district.
- 3. A request under this section is for a period of not less than one year. A student who attends school in another attendance center pursuant to this section may return to the original attendance center and enroll at any time, once the parent or guardian has notified the school district in writing of the decision to enroll the student in the original attendance center.

- 4. If a request filed under this section is for a student requiring special education under chapter 256B, the request to transfer to another attendance center shall only be granted if all of the following conditions are met:
 - a. The attendance center maintains a special education instructional program that is appropriate to meet the student's educational needs and the enrollment of the student in the attendance center would not cause the size of the class or caseload in that special education instructional program in the attendance center to exceed the maximum class size or caseload established pursuant to rules adopted by the state board of education.
 - b. If the student would be assigned to a general education class, there is sufficient classroom space for the general education class to which the student would be assigned.
- 5. If a student, for whom a request to transfer has been filed with the school district, has been suspended or expelled in the school district, the student shall not be permitted to transfer until the student has been reinstated. Once the student has been reinstated, however, the student shall be permitted to transfer in the same manner as if the student had not been suspended or expelled. If a student, for whom a request to transfer has been filed with a school district, is expelled in the school district, the student shall be permitted to transfer under this section if the student applies for and is reinstated. However, if the student applies for reinstatement but is not reinstated in the school district, the school district may deny the request to transfer. The decision of the school district may be appealed to the board of directors of the school district.
- 6. A student who is enrolled in another attendance center within the same school district pursuant to this section is eligible to participate immediately in varsity interscholastic athletic contests and athletic competitions as a member of a team from the receiving attendance center.
- 7. This section shall not be construed to prohibit a school district from allowing the parent or guardian of a student enrolled in the school district to enroll the student in another attendance center within the same school district that offers classes at the student's grade level pursuant to a policy adopted by the board of directors of the school district that allows for transfers for reasons in addition to those allowed pursuant to this section.
- 8. The state board of education shall adopt rules pursuant to chapter 17A to administer this section.

280.12. School improvement advisory committee.

The board of directors of each public school district and the authorities in charge of each nonpublic school shall do the following:

- 1. Appoint a school improvement advisory committee to make recommendations to the board or authorities. The advisory committee shall consist of members representing students, parents, teachers, administrators, and representatives from the local community, which may include representatives of business, industry, labor, community agencies, higher education, or other community constituents. To the extent possible, committee membership shall have balanced representation with regard to race, gender, national origin, and disability.
- 2. Utilize the recommendations from the school improvement advisory committee to determine the following:
 - f. Harassment or bullying prevention goals, programs, training, and other initiatives.

280.28. Harassment and bullying prohibited - policy - immunity.

1. Purpose - findings - policy. The state of Iowa is committed to providing all students with a safe and civil school environment in which all members of the school community are treated with dignity and respect. The general assembly finds that a safe and civil school environment is necessary for students to learn and achieve at high academic levels. Harassing and bullying behavior can seriously disrupt the ability of school employees to maintain a safe and civil environment, and the ability of students to learn and

succeed. Therefore, it is the policy of the state of lowa that school employees, volunteers, and students in lowa schools shall not engage in harassing or bullying behavior.

- 2. Definitions. For purposes of this section, unless the context otherwise requires:
 - a. "Electronic" means any communication involving the transmission of information by wire, radio, optical cable, electromagnetic, or other similar means. "Electronic" includes but is not limited to communication via electronic mail, internet-based communications, pager service, cell phones, and electronic text messaging.
 - b. "Harassment" and "bullying" shall be construed to mean any electronic, written, verbal, or physical act or conduct toward a student which is based on any actual or perceived trait or characteristic of the student and which creates an objectively hostile school environment that meets one or more of the following conditions:
 - (1) Places the student in reasonable fear of harm to the student's person or property.
 - (2) Has a substantially detrimental effect on the student's physical or mental health.
 - (3) Has the effect of substantially interfering with a student's academic performance.
 - (4) Has the effect of substantially interfering with the student's ability to participate in or benefit from the services, activities, or privileges provided by a school.
 - c. "Trait or characteristic of the student" includes but is not limited to age, color, creed, national origin, race, religion, marital status, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, physical attributes, physical or mental ability or disability, ancestry, political party preference, political belief, socioeconomic status, or familial status.
 - d. "Volunteer" means an individual who has regular, significant contact with students.
- 3. Policy. On or before September 1, 2007, the board of directors of a school district and the authorities in charge of each accredited nonpublic school shall adopt a policy declaring harassment and bullying in schools, on school property, and at any school function, or school-sponsored activity regardless of its location, in a manner consistent with this section, as against state and school policy. The board and the authorities shall make a copy of the policy available to all school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians and shall take all appropriate steps to bring the policy against harassment and bullying and the responsibilities set forth in the policy to the attention of school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians. Each policy shall, at a minimum, include all of the following components:
 - a. A statement declaring harassment and bullying to be against state and school policy. The statement shall include but not be limited to the following provisions:
 - (1) School employees, volunteers, and students in school, on school property, or at any school function or school-sponsored activity shall not engage in harassing and bullying behavior.
 - (2) School employees, volunteers, and students shall not engage in reprisal, retaliation, or false accusation against a victim, witness, or an individual who has reliable information about such an act of harassment or bullying.
 - b. A definition of harassment and bullying as set forth in this section.
 - c. A description of the type of behavior expected from school employees, volunteers, parents or guardians, and students relative to prevention measures, reporting, and investigation of harassment or bullying.
 - d. The consequences and appropriate remedial action for a person who violates the antiharassment and antibullying policy.
 - e. A procedure for reporting an act of harassment or bullying, including the identification by job title of the school official responsible for ensuring that the policy is implemented, and the identification of the person or persons responsible for receiving reports of harassment or bullying.

- f. A procedure for the prompt investigation of complaints, either identifying the school superintendent or the superintendent's designee as the individual responsible for conducting the investigation, including a statement that investigators will consider the totality of circumstances presented in determining whether conduct objectively constitutes harassment or bullying under this section.
- g. A statement of the manner in which the policy will be publicized.
- 4. Programs encouraged. The board of directors of a school district and the authorities in charge of each accredited nonpublic school are encouraged to establish programs designed to eliminate harassment and bullying in schools. To the extent that funds are available for these purposes, school districts and accredited nonpublic schools shall do the following:
 - a. Provide training on antiharassment and antibullying policies to school employees and volunteers who have significant contact with students.
 - b. Develop a process to provide school employees, volunteers, and students with the skills and knowledge to help reduce incidents of harassment and bullying.
- 5. Immunity. A school employee, volunteer, or student, or a student's parent or guardian who promptly, reasonably, and in good faith reports an incident of harassment or bullying, in compliance with the procedures in the policy adopted pursuant to this section, to the appropriate school official designated by the school district or accredited nonpublic school, shall be immune from civil or criminal liability relating to such report and to participation in any administrative or judicial proceeding resulting from or relating to the report.
- 6. Collection requirement. The board of directors of a school district and the authorities in charge of each nonpublic school shall develop and maintain a system to collect harassment and bullying incidence data.
- 7. Reporting. The board of directors of a school district and the authorities in charge of each nonpublic school shall report data collected under subsection 6, as specified by the department, to the department and to the local community.
- 8. Existing remedies not affected. This section shall not be construed to preclude a victim from seeking administrative or legal remedies under any applicable provision of law.

282.18. Open enrollment.

- 9.a. A pupil who participates in open enrollment for purposes of attending a grade in grades nine through twelve in a school district other than the district of residence is ineligible to participate in varsity interscholastic athletic contests and athletic competitions during the pupil's first ninety school days of enrollment in the district. However, a pupil may participate immediately in a varsity interscholastic sport under any of the following circumstances:
 - (7) If the district of residence determines that the pupil was previously subject to a founded incident of harassment or bullying as defined in section 280.28 while attending school in the district of residence.

708.10. Hazing.

- 1.a. A person commits an act of hazing when the person intentionally or recklessly engages in any act or acts involving forced activity which endanger the physical health or safety of a student for the purpose of initiation or admission into, or affiliation with, any organization operating in connection with a school, college, or university. Prohibited acts include, but are not limited to, any brutality of a physical nature such as whipping, forced confinement, or any other forced activity which endangers the physical health or safety of the student.
 - b. For purposes of this section, "forced activity" means any activity which is a condition of initiation or admission into, or affiliation with, an organization, regardless of a student's willingness to participate in the activity.
- 2. A person who commits an act of hazing is guilty of a simple misdemeanor.

3. A person who commits an act of hazing which causes serious bodily injury to another is guilty of a serious misdemeanor.

REGULATIONS

281-12.3(13). Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy.

- 12.3(6) Student responsibility and discipline. The board shall adopt student responsibility and discipline policies as required by Iowa Code section 279.8. The board shall involve parents, students, instructional and noninstructional professional staff, and community members in the development and revision of those policies where practicable or unless specific policy is mandated by legislation. The policies shall relate to the educational purposes of the school or school district. The policies shall include, but are not limited to, the following: attendance; use of tobacco; the use or possession of alcoholic beverages or any controlled substance; harassment of or by students and staff as detailed in subrule 12.3(13); violent, destructive, and seriously disruptive behavior; suspension, expulsion, emergency removal, weapons, and physical restraint; out-of-school behavior; participation in extracurricular activities; academic progress; and citizenship. [...]
- 12.3(13) Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy. The policy adopted by the board regarding harassment of or by students and staff shall declare harassment and bullying in schools, on school property, and at any school function or school-sponsored activity regardless of its location to be against state and school policy. The board shall make a copy of the policy available to all school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians and shall take all appropriate steps to bring the policy against harassment and bullying and the responsibilities set forth in the policy to the attention of school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians. Each policy shall, at a minimum, include all of the following components:
 - a. A statement declaring harassment and bullying to be against state and school policy. The statement shall include but not be limited to the following provisions:
 - (1) School employees, volunteers, and students in school, on school property, or at any school function or school-sponsored activity shall not engage in harassing and bullying behavior.
 - (2) School employees, volunteers, and students shall not engage in reprisal, retaliation, or false accusation against a victim, a witness, or an individual who has reliable information about such an act of harassment or bullying.
 - b. A definition of harassment and bullying consistent with the following: Harassment and bullying shall be construed to mean any electronic, written, verbal, or physical act or conduct toward a student which is based on the student's actual or perceived age, color, creed, national origin, race, religion, marital status, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, physical attributes, physical or mental ability or disability, ancestry, political party preference, political belief, socioeconomic status, or familial status, and which creates an objectively hostile school environment that meets one or more of the following conditions:
 - (1) Places the student in reasonable fear of harm to the student's person or property.
 - (2) Has a substantially detrimental effect on the student's physical or mental health.
 - (3) Has the effect of substantially interfering with a student's academic performance.
 - (4) Has the effect of substantially interfering with the student's ability to participate in or benefit from the services, activities, or privileges provided by a school. The local board policy must set forth all 17 of the above-enumerated traits or characteristics, but does not need to be limited to the 17 enumerated traits or characteristics.
 - c. A description of the type of behavior expected from school employees, volunteers, parents or guardians, and students relative to prevention, reporting, and investigation of harassment or bullying.

- d. The consequences and appropriate remedial action for a person who violates the antiharassment and antibullying policy.
- e. A procedure for reporting an act of harassment or bullying, including the identification by job title of the school official responsible for ensuring that the policy is implemented, and the identification of the person or persons responsible for receiving reports of harassment or bullying.
- f. A procedure for the prompt investigation of complaints, identifying either the school superintendent or the superintendent's designee as the individual responsible for conducting the investigation, including a statement that investigators will consider the totality of circumstances presented in determining whether conduct objectively constitutes harassment or bullying under this subrule.
- g. A statement of the manner in which the policy will be publicized.

The board shall integrate its policy into its comprehensive school improvement plan. The board shall develop and maintain a system to collect harassment and bullying incidence data, and report such data, on forms specified by the department, to the local community and to the department.

281-12.8(256). Accountability for student achievement.

12.8(2) School improvement advisory committee. To meet requirements of Iowa Code section 280.12(2) as amended by 2007 Iowa Acts, Senate File 61, section 1, the board shall appoint and charge a school improvement advisory committee to make recommendations to the board. Based on the committee members' analysis of the needs assessment data, the committee shall make recommendations to the board about the following components:

- 1. Major educational needs;
- 2. Student learning goals;
- 3. Long-range goals that include, but are not limited to, the state indicators that address reading, mathematics, and science achievement; and
- 4. Harassment or bullying prevention goals, programs, training, and other initiatives.

Dating and Relationship Violence

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Prevention, Behavioral Intervention, and Supports

State Model Policies and Implementation Support

LAWS

256.18. Character education policy.

- 1.a. It is the policy of the general assembly that lowa's schools be the best and safest possible. To that end, each school is encouraged to instill the highest character and academic excellence in each student, in close cooperation with the student's parents, and with input from the community and educators.
 - b. Schools should make every effort, formally and informally, to stress character qualities that will maintain a safe and orderly learning environment, and that will ultimately equip students to be model citizens. These qualities may include caring, civic virtue and citizenship, justice and fairness, respect, responsibility, trustworthiness, giving, honesty, self-discipline, respect for and obedience to the law, citizenship, courage, initiative, commitment, perseverance, kindness, compassion, service, loyalty, patience, the dignity and necessity of hard work, and any other qualities deemed appropriate by a school.
- 2. The department of education shall assist schools in accessing financial and curricular resources to implement programs stressing these character qualities. Schools are encouraged to use their existing resources to implement programs stressing these qualities. Whenever possible, the department shall develop partnerships with schools, nonprofit organizations, or an institution of higher education, or with a consortium of two or more of those entities, to design and implement character education programs that may be integrated into classroom instruction and may be carried out with other educational reforms.

257.41. Funding for programs for returning dropouts and dropout prevention.

- 1. Budget. The budget of an adopted program for at-risk students, secondary students who attend alternative programs or alternative schools, or returning dropouts and dropout prevention for a school district, after subtracting funds received under section 257.11, subsection 4, paragraphs "a" through "c", and from other sources for that purpose, including any previous carryover or amount designated from the school district's flexibility account under section 298A.2, subsection 2, shall be funded annually on a basis of one-fourth or more from the district cost of the school district and up to three-fourths through establishment of a modified supplemental amount. Annually, the department of management shall establish a modified supplemental amount for each such school district equal to the difference between the approved budget for the program for that district and the sum of the amount funded from the district cost of the school district plus funds received under section 257.11, subsection 4, and from other sources for that purpose, including any previous carryover or amount designated from the school district's flexibility account under section 298A.2, subsection 2.
- 2. Appropriate uses of the funding for an adopted program include but are not limited to the following:
 - a. Salary and benefits for staff including but not limited to instructional staff, instructional support staff, administrative staff, and guidance counselors, salary and benefits or contract payments for psychologists licensed under chapter 154B, licensed independent social workers or master social workers under chapter 154C, licensed mental health counselors under chapter 154D, and salary and benefits for school-based youth services staff who are working with at-risk or dropout prevention programs, alternative programs, and alternative schools, in a traditional or alternative setting, or who are working with students who are participating in such programs or schools, if such person's time is dedicated to working with the program or with such students in order to provide services beyond those which are provided by the school district to students who are not participating in such programs or alternative schools. However, if such person works part-time with students who are participating in a program or alternative school and the person has another unrelated assignment, only the portion of the person's time that is related to the program or

alternative school may be charged to the program or school. For each such person who works part time or on a contract basis with the program or with students who are participating in a program or alternative school, the school district shall have the authority to designate the portion of the person's time and the corresponding amount of salary and benefits or contract payment amount that is related to the program or alternative school and shall include such designation as part of the program plan under section 257.38, if applicable. For purposes of this paragraph, if an alternative setting is necessary to provide for a program which is offered at a location off school grounds and which is intended to serve student needs by improving relationships and connections to school, decreasing truancy and tardiness, providing opportunities for course credit recovery, or helping students identified as at risk to accelerate through multiple grade levels of achievement within a shortened time frame, the tuition costs for a student identified as at risk shall be considered an appropriate use of the program funding under this section.

- b. Professional development for all teachers, counselors, and staff identified in paragraph "a" who are working with at-risk students under a program or an alternative school setting.
- c. Research-based resources, materials, software, supplies, and purchased services that meet all of the following criteria:
 - (1) Meets the needs of kindergarten through grade twelve students identified as at risk.
 - (2) Are beyond those provided by the regular school program.
 - (3) Are necessary to provide the services listed in the school district's plan submitted pursuant to section 257.38.
 - (4) Will remain with the kindergarten through grade twelve at-risk program, alternative program or alternative school, or returning dropout and dropout prevention program.
- f. Any purpose determined by the board of directors that directly benefits students participating in the adopted program.
- g. School security personnel costs.
- 3. Limitation. For the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2013, and each succeeding fiscal year, the ratio of the amount of the modified supplemental amount established by the department of management compared to the school district's total regular program district cost shall not exceed two and one-half percent. However, if the school district's highest such ratio so determined for any fiscal year beginning on or after July 1, 2009, but before July 1, 2013, exceeded two and one-half percent, the ratio may exceed two and one-half percent but shall not exceed the highest such ratio established during that period.
- 4. Other uses. Notwithstanding subsection 2 and section 282.24, if a student has been determined by the school district to be likely to inflict self-harm or likely to harm another student and all of the following apply, the school district may use the modified supplemental amount established under subsection 1 to pay the instructional costs necessary to address the student's behavior during instructional time when those services are not otherwise provided to students who do not require special education and the costs exceed the costs of instruction of students in a regular curriculum:
 - a. The student does not require special education.
 - b. The student is not in a court-ordered placement under chapter 232 under the care and custody of the department of health and human services or juvenile court services.
 - c. The student is not in the state training school pursuant to a court order entered under chapter 232 under the care and custody of the department of health and human services.
 - d. The pupil is not placed in a facility licensed under chapter 135B, 135C, or 135H.

280.12. School improvement advisory committee.

The board of directors of each public school district and the authorities in charge of each nonpublic school shall do the following:

- 1. Appoint a school improvement advisory committee to make recommendations to the board or authorities. The advisory committee shall consist of members representing students, parents, teachers, administrators, and representatives from the local community, which may include representatives of business, industry, labor, community agencies, higher education, or other community constituents. To the extent possible, committee membership shall have balanced representation with regard to race, gender, national origin, and disability.
- 2. Utilize the recommendations from the school improvement advisory committee to determine the following:
 - a. Major educational needs.
 - b. Student learning goals.
 - c. Long-range and annual improvement goals that include, but are not limited to, the state indicators that address reading, mathematics, and science achievement.
 - d. Desired levels of student performance.
 - e. Progress toward meeting the goals set out in paragraphs "b" through "d".
 - f. Harassment or bullying prevention goals, programs, training, and other initiatives.
- 3. Consider recommendations from the school improvement advisory committee to infuse character education into the educational program.

REGULATIONS

281-103.10(256B,280). Department responsibilities.

The department shall develop, establish, and distribute to all school districts evidence-based standards, guidelines, and expectations for the appropriate and inappropriate responses to behavior in the classroom that presents an imminent threat of bodily injury to a student or another person and for the reasonable, necessary, and appropriate physical restraint of a student, consistent with these rules.

The director of the department shall consult with the area education agencies to create comprehensive and consistent standards and guidance for professional development relating to successfully educating individuals in the least restrictive environment, and for evidence-based interventions consistent with the standards established pursuant to this subsection.

281-12.3(13). Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy.

12.3(2) Policy manual. The board shall develop and maintain a policy manual which provides a codification of its policies, including the adoption date, the review date, and any revision date for each policy. Policies shall be reviewed at least every five years to ensure relevance to current practices and compliance with the lowa Code, administrative rules and decisions, and court decisions.

281-14.4(279). Suicide prevention, identification of adverse childhood experiences, and strategies to mitigate toxic stress response.

14.4(4) Resources for implementation. The lowa department of education will publicly provide resources and technical assistance to assist districts in compliance with this rule.

281-66.6(279). Responsibilities of area education agencies.

Area education agencies shall assist school districts in developing program plans and budgets for school-based youth services programs. Assistance may include, but is not limited to, the following:

66.6(1) Providing person power to coordinate planning between districts and other service providers and in writing grants.

- 66.6(2) Gathering and providing information for completion of program plans.
- 66.6(3) Identifying staff development resources and organizing staff training.
- 66.6(4) Identifying resources for establishing at least a 20 percent local contribution. 66.6(5) Participating in the advisory council.
- 66.6(6) Helping develop and implement recording procedures for evaluation of data and analysis of results.
- 66.6(7) Providing in-school support services.
- 66.6(8) Assisting with implementation of nondiscrimination measures.

281-66.7(279). Responsibilities of the department of education.

The department of education shall:

- 66.7(1) Provide guidelines and forms to school districts for submitting program plans.
- 66.7(2) Provide technical assistance to school districts, other education agencies and service providers in the development of plans.
- 66.7(3) Organize reviews and approval of written plans in at least three size categories of school districts including those below an enrollment of 1,200; between 1,200 and 4,999; and 5,000 and above. The process will give priority to need and plans that indicate high degrees of active participation by community-based youth organizations and agencies. Review criteria and a point system are contained in guidelines for school-based youth services programs.
- 66.7(4) Develop and administer a format for evaluation. An annual evaluation report shall be filed with the department of education by school districts following the close of each school year.
- 66.7(5) Provide technical assistance to school districts and other service providers in designing preservice and in-service training.
- 66.7(6) Consult with the departments of human services, human rights (division of criminal and juvenile justice planning), public health, economic development (division of job training and entrepreneurship assistance) and employment services (division of job services) to develop rules, administer programs, and monitor and evaluate programs.
- 66.7(7) Establish assistance through the F.I.N.E. Foundation and other foundations and public and private agencies in evaluating programs under this chapter and to provide support to school districts in implementing the funded programs.

Multi-tiered Frameworks and Systems of Support

<u>LAWS</u>

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

281-11.3(PL107-110). Whole school option.

For the school year starting July 1, 2004, and in the years thereafter, a school identified as meeting the criteria in 11.3(1) "a" through "c" for two consecutive years shall develop and implement a remedial plan. The plan shall include schoolwide efforts to support positive student behavior and improve student discipline. The department shall conduct a site visit to the school.

281-14.12(256) Prevention of classroom behaviors that present an imminent threat.

14.12(1) Appropriate responses to behaviors, including classroom behavior that presents an imminent threat of bodily injury, are to be part of evidence-based tiered supports within the department's continuous improvement framework to support student SEBH.

- 14.12(2) The evidence-based tiered supports will:
 - a. Include universal support for all students that foster the emotional well-being of students through schoolwide safe and supportive environments.
 - b. Be culturally responsive.
 - c. Be trauma responsive.
 - d. Include positive school discipline practices.
 - e. Include crisis prevention, intervention and de-escalation that is based on student SEBH needs and reasonable in response to the behavior that is being exhibited.
 - f. Include proactive strategies that enable schools to identify and intervene early in order to minimize the escalation of identified behavioral health symptoms and other barriers to school success.
 - g. Include classroom management practices that include the following evidence-based practices:
 - (1) An effectively designed physical classroom.
 - (2) Predictable classroom routines.
 - (3) Posted positive classroom expectations.
 - (4) Prompts and active supervision.
 - (5) Varied opportunities to respond.
 - (6) Acknowledgments for expected behavior.
 - h. Engage parents and guardians as partners in identifying appropriate supports for the students.
 - i. Support student development of social-emotional competencies and skills through planned universal instruction.
 - j. Have a set of specific supplemental interventions and intensive intervention supports that:
 - (1) Are for students whose behaviors are unresponsive to low-intensity strategies.
 - (2) Are based on functional behavior assessment (FBA).
 - (3) Are supported by individuals trained to handle such issues.
 - (4) Involve parents in development and ongoing review.

281-14.13(256) Therapeutic classroom.

A school district may include therapeutic classrooms as part of its district's or building's tiers of SEBH supports. A therapeutic classroom is designed for the purpose of providing support for any student, with or without an IEP, whose emotional, social, or behavioral needs interfere with the student's ability to be successful in the current educational environment, with or without supports, until the student is able to successfully return to the student's current education environment, with or without supports, including but not limited to the general education classroom. A placement in a therapeutic classroom shall not be permanent or indefinite but will be reviewed periodically as called for in this rule. For the purpose of this chapter, the word "classroom" is a descriptor of an educational set of services that create the educational environment that may include a separate physical setting from other students.

- 14.13(1) Continuum of programming. Therapeutic classrooms include the therapeutic programming students may need to support them across a range of educational settings or learning spaces, or both, and are not necessarily standalone or isolated classrooms. Therapeutic classroom supports are part of a district's tiers of SEBH supports.
- 14.13(2) Therapeutic classrooms. For state cost reimbursement and reporting purposes, a therapeutic classroom will:
- a. Include the following therapeutic components:

- (1) A multidisciplinary team who collaborates regularly to support design, implementation and decision-making regarding therapeutic program supports including but not limited to an individual qualified to conduct diagnostic assessments and support SEBH programming for individuals with social-emotional concerns;
- (2) Practices that enhance positive childhood experiences;
- (3) Clearly articulated and taught behavioral expectations and routines;
- (4) Regular assessment of social-emotional competencies with targeted individualized instruction, small group social-emotional instruction, or both;
- (5) Individualized BIPs developed based on FBAs and trauma-informed practice;
- (6) Regular engagement of family to review progress and make decisions for more or less restrictive programming;
- (7) Supports for generalization and transition to less restrictive supports/settings since a therapeutic classroom is a temporary intervention. Supports include opportunities to practice social-emotional skills in natural contexts with similar age/grade peers.
- b. Be operated by and housed in the school district seeking reimbursement.
- c. Have appropriately licensed and certified teacher(s).
- d. Follow program standards for the age(s) served and the full extent of the district's comprehensive education program, including:
 - (1) Preschool programs follow preschool program standards, as specified in 281--Chapter 16;
 - (2) Prekindergarten through twelfth grade programs follow 281--Chapter 12;
 - (3) Programs that serve students with IEPs also follow 281--Chapter 41.
- e. Not solely consist of any one of the following:
 - (1) Calming room/space;
 - (2) Single strategy or program without individualization;
 - (3) Space/location for disciplinary action;
 - (4) Seclusion room.
- 14.13(3) General education students. When general education students are served through a therapeutic classroom, the following must occur:
- a. The therapeutic classroom has to have clear requirements for referral, admission, progress monitoring, and exit that focus on supporting learners to return to general services,
- b. Each general education student has an individualized BIP developed based on an FBA,
- c. When a student receives therapeutic services for 50 percent or more of the school day, a team of qualified professionals, the teacher, and the family will review the BIP every 60 days to consider the need for transition to more or less intensive programming,
- d. If, at any point, public agencies suspect a disability, the public agencies are to request consent for a full and individual evaluation for special education from the parent pursuant to 281--Chapter 41.
- 14.13(4) Special education students. Districts operating therapeutic classrooms that serve learners with IEPs will follow 281--Chapter 41, including provisions for education in the least restrictive environment.
- 14.13(5) Consortium agreements. A district may enter into a cost-sharing consortium agreement with one or more school districts or area education agencies to provide therapeutic classroom supports. Districts shall not enter into an agreement to purchase or hold seats in a therapeutic classroom. If a district seeks cost reimbursement for student(s) who attend a therapeutic classroom:

- a. The therapeutic classroom is to be housed within the district's boundaries;
- b. The district seeking reimbursement is fiscally responsible for the therapeutic classroom;
- c. The district seeking reimbursement is responsible for operating the therapeutic classroom.
- 14.13(6) Rule of construction. A school district is not required to operate a therapeutic classroom; however, a school district is required to ensure therapeutic services are available, whether in-district or otherwise, to students who need those services to access or benefit from an education.

281-103.8(256B,280). Training, documentation, debriefing, and reporting requirements.

103.8(1) Training. An employee must receive training prior to using any form of physical restraint or seclusion. Training shall cover the following topics:

d. Positive behavior interventions and supports, and evidence-based approaches to student discipline and classroom management.

Prevention

LAWS

280.9B. Violence prevention curriculum.

The department of education shall develop a statewide violence prevention program based on law-related education. The department shall contract with a law-related education agency that serves the state and provides a comprehensive plan to develop violence prevention curricula for grades kindergarten through twelve, provide training to teachers and school administrators on violence prevention, and develop school-community partnerships for violence prevention.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Social-emotional Learning (SEL)

LAWS

256.11. Educational standards.

The state board shall adopt rules under chapter 17A and a procedure for accrediting all public and nonpublic schools in lowa offering instruction at any or all levels from the prekindergarten level through grade twelve. The rules of the state board shall require that a multicultural, gender fair approach is used by schools and school districts. The educational program shall be taught from a multicultural, gender fair approach. Global perspectives shall be incorporated into all levels of the educational program. The rules adopted by the state board pursuant to section 256.17, Code Supplement 1987, to establish new standards shall satisfy the requirements of this section to adopt rules to implement the educational program contained in this section. The educational program shall be as follows:

- 2. The kindergarten program shall include experiences designed to develop healthy emotional and social habits and growth in the language arts and communication skills, as well as a capacity for the completion of individual tasks, and protect and increase physical well-being with attention given to experiences relating to the development of life skills and human growth and development. A kindergarten teacher shall be licensed to teach in kindergarten. An accredited nonpublic school must meet the requirements of this subsection only if the nonpublic school offers a kindergarten program. [...]
- 5. In grades nine through twelve, a unit of credit consists of a course or equivalent related components or partial units taught throughout the academic year. The minimum program to be offered and taught for grades nine through twelve is:

j. (1) One unit of health education which shall include personal health; food and nutrition; environmental health; safety and survival skills; consumer health; family life; age-appropriate and research-based human growth and development; substance abuse and nonuse; emotional and social health; health resources; and prevention and control of disease, including age-appropriate and research-based information regarding sexually transmitted diseases, including HPV and the availability of a vaccine to prevent HPV, and acquired immune deficiency syndrome.

256.18. Character education policy.

- 1.a. It is the policy of the general assembly that lowa's schools be the best and safest possible. To that end, each school is encouraged to instill the highest character and academic excellence in each student, in close cooperation with the student's parents, and with input from the community and educators.
 - b. Schools should make every effort, formally and informally, to stress character qualities that will maintain a safe and orderly learning environment, and that will ultimately equip students to be model citizens. These qualities may include caring, civic virtue and citizenship, justice and fairness, respect, responsibility, trustworthiness, giving, honesty, self-discipline, respect for and obedience to the law, citizenship, courage, initiative, commitment, perseverance, kindness, compassion, service, loyalty, patience, the dignity and necessity of hard work, and any other qualities deemed appropriate by a school.
- 2. The department of education shall assist schools in accessing financial and curricular resources to implement programs stressing these character qualities. Schools are encouraged to use their existing resources to implement programs stressing these qualities. Whenever possible, the department shall develop partnerships with schools, nonprofit organizations, or an institution of higher education, or with a consortium of two or more of those entities, to design and implement character education programs that may be integrated into classroom instruction and may be carried out with other educational reforms.

280.12. School improvement advisory committee.

The board of directors of each public school district and the authorities in charge of each nonpublic school shall do the following:

3. Consider recommendations from the school improvement advisory committee to infuse character education into the educational program.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Trauma-informed Practices

LAWS

279.70. Training on suicide prevention, adverse childhood experiences identification, and toxic stress response mitigation strategies.

3. By July 1, 2019, the board of directors of a school district shall require annual, evidence-based, evidence-supported training on the identification of adverse childhood experiences and strategies to mitigate toxic stress response for all school personnel who hold a license, certificate, authorization, or statement of recognition issued by the board of educational examiners and who have regular contact with students in kindergarten through grade twelve. The content of the training shall be based on nationally recognized best practices.

REGULATIONS

281-14.4(279). Suicide prevention, identification of adverse childhood experiences, and strategies to mitigate toxic stress response.

14.4(1) Definitions.

- "Adverse childhood experience" means a potentially traumatic event occurring in childhood that can have negative, lasting effects on an individual's health and well-being.
- 14.4(2) Required protocols. School districts shall adopt protocols for suicide prevention and postvention and the identification of adverse childhood experiences and strategies to mitigate toxic stress response. The protocols shall be based on nationally recognized best practices.
- 14.4(3) Required training.
 - b. By July 1, 2019, the board of directors of a school district shall require annual, evidence-based, evidence-supported training on the identification of adverse childhood experiences and strategies to mitigate toxic stress response for all school personnel who hold a license, certificate, authorization, or statement of recognition issued by the board of educational examiners and who have regular contact with students in kindergarten through grade 12. The content of the training shall be based on nationally recognized best practices.

Mental Health Literacy Training

LAWS

273.2. Area education agencies established - powers - services and programs.

- 1. There are established throughout the state fifteen area education agencies, each of which is governed by an area education agency board of directors. The boundaries of an area education agency shall not divide a school district. The director of the department of education shall change boundaries of area education agencies to take into account mergers of local school districts and changes in boundaries of local school districts, when necessary to maintain the policy of this chapter that a local school district shall not be a part of more than one area education agency. [...]
- 5. The area education agency board may provide for the following programs and services to local school districts, and at the request of local school districts to providers of child development services who have received grants under chapter 256A from the child development coordinating council, within the limits of funds available:
 - a. In-service training programs for employees of school districts and area education agencies, provided at the time programs and services are established they do not duplicate programs and services available in that area from the universities under the state board of regents and from other universities and four-year institutions of higher education in lowa. The in-service training programs shall include but are not limited to regular training concerning mental or emotional disorders which may afflict children and the impact children with such disorders have upon their families.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

School-based Behavioral Health Programs

LAWS

280A.1. Definitions.

As used in this section, unless the context otherwise requires:

3. "Behavioral health screening" or "screening" means a screening and assessment performed using a universal behavioral health screening and assessment tool, approved for use by the department of education in consultation with the department of public health and the department of human services, to identify factors that place children at higher risk for behavioral health conditions, to determine appropriate treatment or intervention, and to identify the need for referral for appropriate services.

4. "Behavioral health services" means services provided by a health care professional operating within the scope of the health care professional's practice which address mental, emotional, medical, or behavioral conditions, illnesses, diseases, or problems.

280A.2. Behavioral health screenings and assessments in school settings.

- 1.a. A school district, an accredited nonpublic school, or an area education agency may contract with a mental health professional or a nationally accredited behavioral health care organization to provide behavioral health screenings to students in person.
 - b. (1) A behavioral health screening may be conducted following provision of written consent by the student's parent or guardian for the student to participate in such screening.
 - (2) The consent shall also allow for the disclosure of the results of such screenings to the school district, accredited nonpublic school, or area education agency, if the mental health professional believes there is a credible threat to the health and safety of the student or others.
- 2. If a mental health professional conducts an initial behavioral health screening on the premises of a public school, an accredited nonpublic school, or an area education agency and determines that a student should be referred for additional behavioral health services, all of the following shall apply:
 - a. The mental health professional shall notify the parent or guardian of the student of the results of the screening.
 - b. The mental health professional may notify the student's primary care provider following provision of written consent by the student's parent or guardian. If a student does not have a primary care provider, the mental health professional may provide a listing of local primary care providers to the student's parent or guardian.

280A.3. Establishment of provider-patient relationship for services provided via telehealth in a school setting.

- 1. A mental health professional who provides services via telehealth in a public school, an accredited nonpublic school, or an area education agency shall establish a valid provider-patient relationship with the student who receives telehealth services.
- 2. The provider-patient relationship commences when all of the following conditions are met:
 - a. The student with the health-related matter with the consent of the student's parent or guardian seeks assistance from a mental health professional.
 - b. The mental health professional agrees to undertake diagnosis and treatment of the student.
 - c. The student's parent or guardian agrees to have the student treated by the mental health professional.
- 3. A valid provider-patient relationship may be established through any of the following means:
 - a. Through an in-person encounter which includes an in-person medical interview and physical examination conducted under the standard of care required for an in-person encounter.
 - b. Through consultation with a primary care provider who has an established relationship with the patient and who agrees to participate in or supervise the patient's care.
 - c. Through telehealth, if the standard of care does not require an in-person encounter, in accordance with evidence-based standards of practice and telehealth practice guidelines that address the clinical and technological aspects of telehealth, and the student's parent or guardian is present.
- 4. The parent or guardian of a student shall consent prior to the student receiving behavioral health services via telehealth under this chapter after a provider-patient relationship is established pursuant to this section. The school district shall maintain any such consent form completed by a parent or guardian.

280A.4. Behavioral health services provided via telehealth in a school setting.

- 1. A public school, accredited nonpublic school, or an area education agency may provide access to behavioral health services via telehealth on the premises of the public school, accredited nonpublic school, or area education agency. If a public school, an accredited nonpublic school, or an area education agency provides such access, the school or area education agency shall do all of the following:
 - a. Provide a secure, confidential, and private room for such services and the technology necessary to conduct telehealth services.
 - b. Maintain parent or guardian consent forms for the provision of such services. Consent forms shall be required for each academic year in which the student receives such services.
 - c. Maintain scheduling requests for student appointments for such services and provide the student access to the room by a school nurse or other appropriately trained school or area education agency employee.
 - d. Ensure that no school or area education agency employee is present in the same room as the student during the provision of such services.
 - e. Provide information to the student participating in telehealth services about how and to whom to report inappropriate behavior by a mental health professional.
 - f. Provide access to the student's parent or guardian to participate in any of the student's telehealth sessions.
- 2. The public school, accredited nonpublic school, or area education agency shall not have access to or handle any of the student's medical records or be responsible for billing for the telehealth services provided.
- 3. A mental health professional with prescribing authority who provides telehealth services in accordance with this section shall not prescribe any new medication to a student during a telehealth session. However, a mental health professional with prescribing authority may initiate new prescriptions, alter the dosage of an existing medication, or discontinue an existing medication for the treatment of the student's behavioral health condition after consultation with the student's parent or guardian.
- 4. The mental health professional shall notify the student's parent or guardian of the time and place for each scheduled telehealth session and specify the means available for the parent or guardian to participate in the session.
- 5. Protected health information, including but not limited to medical records and medical billing information, created by the mental health professional or primary care provider shall not be shared with or disclosed to a public school, accredited nonpublic school, or area education agency, unless disclosure is necessary to prevent or lessen a serious and imminent threat to the health or safety of the student or to a clearly identifiable person or persons and the mental health professional determines the student has the apparent intent and ability to carry out the threat.
- 6. A school district, an accredited nonpublic school, an area education agency, the board of directors of a school district or an area education agency, authorities in charge of the accredited nonpublic school, and employees of the school district, accredited nonpublic school or area education agency, shall not be liable for any injury arising from the provision of voluntary behavioral health screenings or behavioral health services in accordance with this chapter, provided such person has acted reasonably and in good faith and in accordance with the provisions of this chapter.

REGULATIONS

281-66.1(279). Scope, purpose and general principles.

66.1(1) Scope. These rules apply to the provision of school-based youth services authorized in Iowa Code section 279.51(3) as amended by 1994 Iowa Acts, Senate File 2330, sections 47 to 49 and 60.

66.1(2) Purpose. The purpose of the school-based youth services education program is to enable children and youth, especially those with problems, to complete their education and to obtain skills that lead to employment, additional education, and to a mentally and physically healthy life.

66.1(3) General principles. School-based youth services programs (SBYSP), at a minimum, may be made available at the elementary school, middle school or high school level, to offer career development services, mental health and family counseling services and preventive and primary health care services in the context of the educational needs of the students. Only school districts or consortiums of districts in cooperation with other service providers may apply for funds to support such programs. The management of the programs may be by a school district or school district consortium or by a nonprofit service organization. All programs must be provided in or near schools to make services accessible to children and youth. Moreover, all programs must be designed for implementation over no less than a four-year period. The inclusion of abortion counseling or the dispensing of contraceptives with these programs is prohibited by Iowa Code section 279.51(3). Budgets for proposed programs will be funded by the state to a maximum of \$ 200,000 per year. Local contributions of at least 20 percent of the total costs of the program are required.

281-66.2(279). Definitions.

For the purpose of this chapter the following definitions apply.

"School-based youth services" means career development assistance; job training and employment services; human services, including mental health and family counseling; primary health care services; day care; transportation; recreation services; parenting education; rehabilitation services; mentoring; family involvement assistance; and other services designed to assist school-age children to be able to succeed in school and be productive citizens upon leaving school.

281-66.3(279). Development of a program plan.

For the purpose of seeking approval for funding youth service programs, school districts shall submit plans approved by their board of directors to the department of education on a request for proposal (RFP) basis. RFPs will be issued within the limits of available funds during the school year preceding the year for which implementation is planned.

281-66.4(279). Program plan.

66.4(2) Identifying objectives. The following objectives shall be included in the program plan.

- a. The establishment of a youth services education program located in or near an elementary school, middle school or high school that integrates multiple service providers with children or youth in need of services to assist them to succeed in education programs, to complete high school and be productive workers and contributors to the community.
- b. Provisions for no less than the minimum education program as defined in Iowa Code section 256.11 and rule 281 12.5(256).
- c. Flexibility of the education program to accommodate other community-based services such as mental health counseling, substance abuse treatment, and health care.
- d. Career development activities including job training and employment services at the high school level.
- e. Mental health and family counseling.
- f. Family involvement activities.
- g. Preventive and primary health care services.
- h. Recreation services.
- i. Mentoring.
- j. Access to program including before and after school, weekend, and summer activity.

- k. Personal skills development.
- I. Other educational and noneducational services considered necessary to achieve the program plan.
- 66.4(3) Identification of the components and development of a schedule for the youth services program. At minimum, the following shall be included:
 - a. Description of the career development activities including job training and employment services; mental health and family counseling; family education and involvement services; preventive and primary health care services; recreation; mentoring; and personal skills development in the context of how these services and others will be provided in conjunction with the education program.
 - b. A schedule or timeline for the operation of the program taking into consideration day and evening accessibility, the number of days per week and the number of months per year the program will operate including 24-hour counseling services.
 - c. If applicable, descriptions of partnerships between public and private sectors to provide employment and training opportunities.

281-66.6(279). Responsibilities of area education agencies.

Area education agencies shall assist school districts in developing program plans and budgets for school-based youth services programs. Assistance may include, but is not limited to, the following:

- 66.6(1) Providing person power to coordinate planning between districts and other service providers and in writing grants.
- 66.6(2) Gathering and providing information for completion of program plans.
- 66.6(3) Identifying staff development resources and organizing staff training.
- 66.6(4) Identifying resources for establishing at least a 20 percent local contribution. 66.6(5) Participating in the advisory council.
- 66.6(6) Helping develop and implement recording procedures for evaluation of data and analysis of results.
- 66.6(7) Providing in-school support services.
- 66.6(8) Assisting with implementation of nondiscrimination measures.

281-66.7(279). Responsibilities of the department of education.

The department of education shall:

- 66.7(1) Provide guidelines and forms to school districts for submitting program plans.
- 66.7(2) Provide technical assistance to school districts, other education agencies and service providers in the development of plans.
- 66.7(3) Organize reviews and approval of written plans in at least three size categories of school districts including those below an enrollment of 1,200; between 1,200 and 4,999; and 5,000 and above. The process will give priority to need and plans that indicate high degrees of active participation by community-based youth organizations and agencies. Review criteria and a point system are contained in guidelines for school-based youth services programs.
- 66.7(4) Develop and administer a format for evaluation. An annual evaluation report shall be filed with the department of education by school districts following the close of each school year.
- 66.7(5) Provide technical assistance to school districts and other service providers in designing preservice and in-service training.
- 66.7(6) Consult with the departments of human services, human rights (division of criminal and juvenile justice planning), public health, economic development (division of job training and entrepreneurship assistance) and employment services (division of job services) to develop rules, administer programs, and monitor and evaluate programs.

66.7(7) Establish assistance through the F.I.N.E. Foundation and other foundations and public and private agencies in evaluating programs under this chapter and to provide support to school districts in implementing the funded programs.			

Monitoring and Accountability

Formal Incident Reporting of Conduct Violations

LAWS

279.51A. Classroom environment - behavioral challenges - reports of violence or assault.

- 4. A classroom teacher employed by a school district shall report any threat of violence or incident of violence that results in injury or property damage or assault by a student enrolled in the school to the principal or the lead administrator of the school within twenty-four hours after the threat of violence or incident of violence occurs, and the classroom teacher may notify the parent or guardian of the student who made the threat of violence or caused the incident of violence, and the parent or guardian of the student to whom the threat of violence was made or the incident of violence occurred, of the threat of violence or incident of violence.
- b. The principal or lead administrator of the school shall notify the parent or guardian of the student enrolled in the school who made the threat of violence or caused the incident of violence that resulted in injury or property damage or assault, and the parent or guardian of the student to whom the threat of violence was made or the incident of violence occurred, of the threat of violence or incident of violence within twenty-four hours after the classroom teacher reports the threat of violence or incident of violence to the principal or lead administrator pursuant to paragraph "a".

280.24. Procedures for reporting drug or alcohol possession or use.

The board of directors of each public school and the authorities in charge of each accredited nonpublic school shall prescribe procedures to report any use or possession of alcoholic liquor, wine, or beer or any controlled substance on school premises to local law enforcement agencies, if the use or possession is in violation of school policy or state law. The procedures may include a provision which does not require a report when the school officials have determined that a school at-risk or other student assistance program would be jeopardized if a student self reports.

Intervention in altercations.

2. A person who is not an employee of a public school district, accredited nonpublic school, or area education agency may intervene in a fight or physical struggle occurring among students, or between students and nonstudents, that takes place in the presence of the nonemployee in a school building, on school premises, or at any school function or school-sponsored activity regardless of its location. The intervention may occur in the absence of an employee of a public school district, accredited nonpublic school, or area education agency, or at the request of such an employee, utilizing the degree and force of intervention reasonably necessary to restore order and protect the safety of the individuals involved in the altercation and others in the vicinity of the altercation. However, a person who intervenes in the absence of an employee of a public school district, accredited nonpublic school, or area education agency shall report the intervention and all relevant information regarding the situation as soon as reasonably possible to such an employee.

Reporting violence - immunity.

An employee of a school district, an accredited nonpublic school, or an area education agency who participates in good faith and acts reasonably in the making of a report to, or investigation by, an appropriate person or agency regarding violence, threats of violence, physical or sexual abuse of a student, or other inappropriate activity against a school employee or student in a school building, on school grounds, or at a school-sponsored function shall be immune from civil or criminal liability relating to such action, as well as for participating in any administrative or judicial proceeding resulting from or relating to the report or investigation.

Harassment and bullying prohibited - policy - immunity.

- 3. Policy. On or before September 1, 2007, the board of directors of a school district and the authorities in charge of each accredited nonpublic school shall adopt a policy declaring harassment and bullying in schools, on school property, and at any school function, or school-sponsored activity regardless of its location, in a manner consistent with this section, as against state and school policy. The board and the authorities shall make a copy of the policy available to all school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians and shall take all appropriate steps to bring the policy against harassment and bullying and the responsibilities set forth in the policy to the attention of school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians. Each policy shall, at a minimum, include all of the following components:
 - e. A procedure for reporting an act of harassment or bullying, including the identification by job title of the school official responsible for ensuring that the policy is implemented, and the identification of the person or persons responsible for receiving reports of harassment or bullying.

299.15. Reports by school officers and employees.

All school officers and employees shall promptly report to the secretary of the school corporation any violations of the truancy law of which they have knowledge, and the § 299.15, secretary shall inform the president of the board of directors who shall, if necessary, call a meeting of the board to take such action thereon as the facts justify.

REGULATIONS

281-12.3(13). Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy.

- 12.3(13) Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy. The policy adopted by the board regarding harassment of or by students and staff shall declare harassment and bullying in schools, on school property, and at any school function or school-sponsored activity regardless of its location to be against state and school policy. The board shall make a copy of the policy available to all school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians and shall take all appropriate steps to bring the policy against harassment and bullying and the responsibilities set forth in the policy to the attention of school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians. Each policy shall, at a minimum, include all of the following components:
 - e. A procedure for reporting an act of harassment or bullying, including the identification by job title of the school official responsible for ensuring that the policy is implemented, and the identification of the person or persons responsible for receiving reports of harassment or bullying.

281-41.229(256B,34CFR300). Disciplinary information.

- 41.229(1) Requirement of transmittal of disciplinary records. Pursuant to Iowa Code section 279.9A, the state requires that a public agency include in the records of a child with a disability a statement of any current or previous disciplinary action that has been taken against the child and transmit the statement to the same extent that the disciplinary information is included in, and transmitted with, the student records of children without disabilities.
- 41.229(2) Contents of transmittal. The transmittal shall include an accurate record of any suspension or expulsion actions taken and the basis for those actions taken. It may include any other information that is relevant to the safety of the child and other individuals involved with the child, to the extent that information is transmitted for children without disabilities.
- 41.229(3) Additional contents of transmittal. If the child transfers from one school to another, the transmission of any of the child's records must include both the child's current IEP and any statement of current or previous disciplinary action that has been taken against the child.

41.229(4) When transmittal must occur. Pursuant to Iowa Code section 279.9A, a transmittal of records under this rule shall occur if requested by officials of the school to which the student seeks to transfer or has transferred.

41.229(5) Additional state law requirement. Pursuant to Iowa Code section 279.9A, this rule applies also to accredited nonpublic schools, as well as AEAs.

Parental Notification

LAWS

279.51A. Classroom environment - behavioral challenges - reports of violence or assault.

- 2. If a classroom teacher clears all other students from the classroom in accordance with subsection 1, the school principal shall, by the end of the school day if possible but at least within twenty-four hours after the incident giving rise to the classroom clearance, notify the parents or guardians of all students assigned to the classroom that was cleared. The notification shall not identify, directly or indirectly, any students involved in the incident giving rise to the classroom clearance. The principal of the school shall request that the parent or guardian of the student whose behavior caused the classroom clearance meet with the principal, the classroom teacher, and other staff as appropriate.
- 4. A classroom teacher employed by a school district shall report any threat of violence or incident of violence that results in injury or property damage or assault by a student enrolled in the school to the principal or the lead administrator of the school within twenty-four hours after the threat of violence or incident of violence occurs, and the classroom teacher may notify the parent or guardian of the student who made the threat of violence or caused the incident of violence, and the parent or guardian of the student to whom the threat of violence was made or the incident of violence occurred, of the threat of violence or incident of violence.
- b. The principal or lead administrator of the school shall notify the parent or guardian of the student enrolled in the school who made the threat of violence or caused the incident of violence that resulted in injury or property damage or assault, and the parent or guardian of the student to whom the threat of violence was made or the incident of violence occurred, of the threat of violence or incident of violence within twenty-four hours after the classroom teacher reports the threat of violence or incident of violence to the principal or lead administrator pursuant to paragraph "a".

Duties of truancy officer.

- 1. The truancy officer may take into custody without warrant any apparently truant child and place the child in the charge of the school principal, or the principal's designee, designated by the board of directors of the school district in which the child resides, or in the charge of any nonpublic school or any authority providing competent private instruction or independent private instruction as defined in section 299A.1, designated by the parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian; but if it is other than a public school, the instruction and maintenance of the child shall be without expense to the school district. If a child is taken into custody under this section, the truancy officer shall make every reasonable attempt to immediately notify the parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian of the child's location.
- 2. The truancy officer shall promptly institute proceedings against any person violating any of the provisions of sections 299.1 through 299.5A.

Violation of attendance policy - attendance cooperation meeting - agreement.

2. This section is not applicable to a child who is receiving competent private instruction or independent private instruction in accordance with the requirements of chapter 299A. If a child is not in compliance with the attendance requirements established under section 299.1, and has not completed educational requirements through the sixth grade, and the school has used every means available to assure the child

does attend, the school truancy officer shall contact the child's parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian to participate in an attendance cooperation meeting. The parties to the attendance cooperation meeting may include the child and shall include the child's parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian and the school truancy officer. The school truancy officer contacting the participants in the attendance cooperation meeting may invite other school officials, a designee of the juvenile court, the county attorney or the county attorney's designee, or other persons deemed appropriate to participate in the attendance cooperation meeting.

808A.2. Searches of students, protected student areas, lockers, desks, and other facilities or spaces.

2. School officials may conduct periodic inspections of all, or a randomly selected number of, school lockers, desks, and other facilities or spaces owned by the school and provided as a courtesy to a student. The furnishing of a school locker, desk, or other facility or space owned by the school and provided as a courtesy to a student shall not create a protected student area, and shall not give rise to an expectation of privacy on a student's part with respect to that locker, desk, facility, or space. Allowing students to use a separate lock on a locker, desk, or other facility or space owned by the school and provided to the student shall also not give rise to an expectation of privacy on a student's part with respect to that locker, desk, facility, or space. However, each year when school begins, the school district shall provide written notice to all students and the students' parents, guardians, or legal custodians, that school officials may conduct periodic inspections of school lockers, desks, and other facilities or spaces owned by the school and provided as a courtesy to a student without prior notice. An inspection under this subsection shall either occur in the presence of the students whose lockers are being inspected or the inspection shall be conducted in the presence of at least one other person.

279.83. Notice to parents or guardians related to physical injuries, harassment, or bullying.

After following the policy adopted by the school district pursuant to section 280.28, subsection 3, an employee of a school district may notify the parents or guardians of a student enrolled in the school district in writing or by electronic mail within twenty-four hours after the employee witnesses, either directly or indirectly by viewing a recording created by a video surveillance system, any student enrolled in the school district harassing or bullying the student. For purposes of this section, "harassment" and "bullying" mean the same as defined in section 280.28.

REGULATIONS

281-103.7(256B,280). Reasonable and necessary force - use of physical restraint or seclusion.

103.7(2) If seclusion or physical restraint is utilized, the following provisions shall apply:

b. A school must attempt to notify the student's parent using the school's emergency contact system as soon as practicable after the situation is under control, but no later than one hour or the end of the school day, whichever occurs first.

281-103.8(256B,280). Training, documentation, debriefing, and reporting requirements. 103.8(3) Debriefing.

a. Schools must hold a debriefing meeting as soon as practicable whenever required by paragraph 103.8(3)"f," but within five school days of the day the report and letter are mailed or provided to the parent, unless a parent who wants to participate personally or through a representative asks for an extension of time, or the parent and school agree to an alternate date and time. The student may attend the meeting with the parent's consent. The parent may elect to be accompanied by other individuals or representatives. The meeting must include employees who administered the physical restraint or seclusion, an administrator or employee who was not involved in the occurrence, the individual or administrator who approved continuation of the physical restraint or seclusion, other relevant personnel designated by the school (such as principal, counselor, classroom teacher, special education teacher), and, if indicated by the student's behavior in the instances prompting the

debriefing, an expert in behavioral health, mental health, or another appropriate discipline. The meeting, and the debriefing report that is to be provided to the parent after the meeting, must include the following information and subjects:

- (1) The date and location of the meeting, and the names and titles of the participants;
- (2) The documentation and report completed in compliance with subrule 103.8(2);
- (3) A review of the student's BIP, IHP, safety plan, and IEP as applicable;
- (4) Identification of patterns of behavior and proportionate response, if any, in the student and the employees involved;
- (5) Determination of possible alternative responses to the incident/less restrictive means, if any;
- (6) Identification of additional resources that could facilitate those alternative responses in the future;
- (7) Planning for follow-up actions, such as behavior assessments, revisions of school intervention plans, medical consultations, and reintroduction plans.

Data Collection, Review, and Reporting of Discipline Policies and Actions

LAWS

279.51A. Classroom environment - behavioral challenges - reports of violence or assault.

5. Each school district shall report to the department of education, in a manner prescribed by the department, an annual count of all incidents of violence that result in injury or property damage or assault by a student in a school building, on school grounds, or at a school-sponsored function, and any time a student is referred for the use of or transfer to a therapeutic classroom. The report shall include but not be limited to demographic information on students reported as victims and reported as perpetrators of incidents of violence that result in injury or property damage or assault, including but not limited to disaggregated information on race, gender, national origin, age, grade level, and disability, along with any other data required for the department to implement the federal Elementary and Secondary Education Act, as amended by the federal Every Student Succeeds Act, Pub. L. No. 114-95, with appropriate safeguards to ensure student privacy. The department shall compile and summarize the reports, categorized by behavior, and shall submit the summary to the general assembly by November 1 annually. A teacher or administrator who submits a report in accordance with this section and who meets the requirements of section 280.27 or section 613.21 shall be immune from civil or criminal liability relating to such action, as well as for participating in any administrative or judicial proceeding resulting from or relating to the report pursuant to the provisions of sections 280.27 and 613.21. The provisions of section 70A.29 shall apply to a teacher or administrator who submits a report in accordance with this section or who reports an incident of violence or assault to a local law enforcement agency in good faith and without fraudulent intent or the intent to deceive. Personal information regarding a student in a report submitted pursuant to this section shall be kept confidential as required under the federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. 1232g, and in the same manner as personal information in student records maintained, created, collected, or assembled by or for a school corporation or educational institution in accordance with section 22.7, subsection 1.

280.28. Harassment and bullying prohibited - policy - immunity.

- 6. Collection requirement. The board of directors of a school district and the authorities in charge of each nonpublic school shall develop and maintain a system to collect harassment and bullying incidence data.
- 7. Reporting. The board of directors of a school district and the authorities in charge of each nonpublic school shall report data collected under subsection 6, as specified by the department, to the department and to the local community.

REGULATIONS

281-12.3(13). Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy.

12.3(13) Policy declaring harassment and bullying against state and school policy. The policy adopted by the board regarding harassment of or by students and staff shall declare harassment and bullying in schools, on school property, and at any school function or school-sponsored activity regardless of its location to be against state and school policy. The board shall make a copy of the policy available to all school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians and shall take all appropriate steps to bring the policy against harassment and bullying and the responsibilities set forth in the policy to the attention of school employees, volunteers, students, and parents or guardians. Each policy shall, at a minimum, include all of the following components:

The board shall integrate its policy into its comprehensive school improvement plan. The board shall develop and maintain a system to collect harassment and bullying incidence data, and report such data, on forms specified by the department, to the local community and to the department.

281-41.170(256B,34CFR300). Suspension and expulsion rates.

41.170(1) General. The department must examine data, including data disaggregated by race and ethnicity, to determine if significant discrepancies are occurring in the rate of long-term suspensions and expulsions of children with disabilities:

- a. Among LEAs in the state; or
- b. Compared to the rates for nondisabled children within an LEA.

41.170(2) Review and revision of policies. If the discrepancies described in subrule 41.170(1) are occurring, the department must review and, if appropriate, revise (or require the affected state agency or LEA to revise) its policies, procedures, and practices relating to the development and implementation of IEPs, the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and procedural safeguards to ensure that these policies, procedures, and practices comply with the Act.

281-103.8(256B,280). Training, documentation, debriefing, and reporting requirements.

103.8(5) Reporting to department. Schools shall report to the Iowa department of education, in a manner prescribed by the department, an annual count of all instances of seclusion or restraint, an annual count of the number of students who were subjected to seclusion or restraint, and any other data required for the department to implement the Elementary and Secondary Education Act, as amended by the Every Student Succeeds Act, Public Law 114-95.

Partnerships between Schools and Law Enforcement

Referrals to Law Enforcement

LAWS

279.9B. Reports to juvenile authorities.

The rules adopted under section 279.8 shall require, once school officials have been notified by a juvenile court officer that a student attending the school is under supervision or has been placed on probation, that school officials shall notify the juvenile court of each unexcused absence or suspension or expulsion of the student.

279.51A. Classroom environment - behavioral challenges - reports of violence or assault.

5. Each school district shall report to the department of education, in a manner prescribed by the department, an annual count of all incidents of violence that result in injury or property damage or assault by a student in a school building, on school grounds, or at a school-sponsored function, and any time a student is referred for the use of or transfer to a therapeutic classroom. The report shall include but not be limited to demographic information on students reported as victims and reported as perpetrators of incidents of violence that result in injury or property damage or assault, including but not limited to disaggregated information on race, gender, national origin, age, grade level, and disability, along with any other data required for the department to implement the federal Elementary and Secondary Education Act, as amended by the federal Every Student Succeeds Act, Pub. L. No. 114-95, with appropriate safeguards to ensure student privacy. The department shall compile and summarize the reports, categorized by behavior, and shall submit the summary to the general assembly by November 1 annually. A teacher or administrator who submits a report in accordance with this section and who meets the requirements of section 280.27 or section 613.21 shall be immune from civil or criminal liability relating to such action, as well as for participating in any administrative or judicial proceeding resulting from or relating to the report pursuant to the provisions of sections 280.27 and 613.21. The provisions of section 70A.29 shall apply to a teacher or administrator who submits a report in accordance with this section or who reports an incident of violence or assault to a local law enforcement agency in good faith and without fraudulent intent or the intent to deceive. Personal information regarding a student in a report submitted pursuant to this section shall be kept confidential as required under the federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. •1232q, and in the same manner as personal information in student records maintained, created, collected, or assembled by or for a school corporation or educational institution in accordance with section 22.7, subsection 1.

280.17A. Procedures for handling dangerous weapons.

The board of directors of a public school and the authorities in control of a nonpublic school shall prescribe procedures requiring school officials to report to local law enforcement agencies any dangerous weapon, as defined in section 702.7, possessed on school premises in violation of school policy or state law.

280.24. Procedures for reporting drug or alcohol possession or use.

The board of directors of each public school and the authorities in charge of each accredited nonpublic school shall prescribe procedures to report any use or possession of alcoholic liquor, wine, or beer or any controlled substance on school premises to local law enforcement agencies, if the use or possession is in violation of school policy or state law. The procedures may include a provision which does not require a report when the school officials have determined that a school at-risk or other student assistance program would be jeopardized if a student self reports.

299.11. Duties of truancy officer.

- 1. The truancy officer may take into custody without warrant any apparently truant child and place the child in the charge of the school principal, or the principal's designee, designated by the board of directors of the school district in which the child resides, or in the charge of any nonpublic school or any authority providing competent private instruction or independent private instruction as defined in section 299A.1, designated by the parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian; but if it is other than a public school, the instruction and maintenance of the child shall be without expense to the school district. If a child is taken into custody under this section, the truancy officer shall make every reasonable attempt to immediately notify the parent, guardian, or legal or actual custodian of the child's location.
- 2. The truancy officer shall promptly institute proceedings against any person violating any of the provisions of sections 299.1 through 299.5A.

REGULATIONS

281-41.535(256B,34CFR300). Referral to and action by law enforcement and judicial authorities.

- 41.535(1) Rule of construction. Nothing in Part B of the Act or this chapter prohibits an agency from reporting a crime committed by a child with a disability to appropriate authorities or prevents state law enforcement and judicial authorities from exercising their responsibilities with regard to the application of federal and state law to crimes committed by a child with a disability.
- 41.535(2) Transmittal of records.
 - a. An agency reporting a crime committed by a child with a disability must ensure that copies of the special education and disciplinary records of the child are transmitted for consideration by the appropriate authorities to whom the agency reports the crime.
 - b. An agency reporting a crime under this rule may transmit copies of the child's special education and disciplinary records only to the extent that the transmission is permitted by the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, such as by obtaining consent (34 CFR Section 99.30) or in instances where disclosure without consent is permitted (34 CFR Section 99.31).

School Resource Officer (SRO) or School Security Officer (SSO) Training or Certification

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

281-103.8(256B,280). Training, documentation, debriefing, and reporting requirements.

103.8(1) Training. An employee must receive training prior to using any form of physical restraint or seclusion. Training shall cover the following topics:

g. Duties and responsibilities of school resource officers and other responders, and the techniques, strategies and procedures used by responders.

Authorizations, Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs), and/or Funding

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Threat Assessment Protocols

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

State-Sponsored, Publicly Available Websites or Other Resources on School Discipline

Safe, supportive learning environments use disciplinary policies and practices that help students stay out of the justice system, while ensuring academic engagement and success for all students. The following resources provided by Iowa provide additional context to state policy and regulations and, in some cases, may support the readers' efforts to provide a positive disciplinary school climate.

		Website address (if
Title	Description	applicable)
Website		
Anti-Bullying/Anti- Harassment, Iowa Department of Education	Provides an overview of bullying including definitions, legal requirements, resources for schools to use for professional development, data reporting and other resources related to bullying.	https://educate.iowa.gov /pk-12/student- services/prevention/bull ying
Dropout Prevention, lowa Department of Education	Provides resources for dropout prevention, including resources on addressing discipline, addressing bullying and attendance.	Dropout Prevention Department of Education (iowa.gov)
Expulsion and suspension policies in early childhood, lowa Department of Education	Provides information and links to resources to support educators in reducing the use of exclusionary discipline practices in early childhood settings.	https://educate.iowa.gov/ media/6155/download?in line=
lowa's Multi-Tiered System of Supports (MTSS), lowa Department of Education	Provides information on the five components of the Iowa MTSS framework with links to additional resources.	https://educateiowa.gov/pk- 12/learner-supports/multi- tiered-system-supports-mtss
Reviewed Evidence- Based Practices and Critical Learning Concepts, Iowa Department of Education	Provides a list of reviewed evidence- based practices and critical learning concepts that meet the ESSER III requirements for evidence-based and are all considered practices with Tier 1 (i.e., strong) evidence according to the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) levels of evidence document	Reviewed Evidence-Based Practices and Critical Learning Concepts (iowa.gov)
School Counseling, Iowa Department of Education	Addresses school counseling in Kindergarten-through-grade 12 programs with resources and tools for implementing multi-tiered system of supports (MTSS), positive behavioral interventions and supports (PBIS), social emotional learning, bullying/harassment, and attendance works.	https://educateiowa.gov/pk- 12/instruction/school- counseling
Seclusion & Restraint, Iowa Department of Education	Provides links to documents explaining amended rules on corporal punishment, seclusion, and restraint; training resources; and a hands-on guide for educators to improve student behavior.	Seclusion and Restraint lowa Department of Education (educateiowa.gov)
Documents		

		Website address (if
Title	Description	applicable)
Anti- Bullying/ Harassment Sample Policy (December 2021), Iowa Department of Education	Sample policy addressing bullying and harassment in the state of lowa.	Bullying and Harassment lowa Department of Education (educateiowa.gov)
Decisions in Motion, IS3 Toolkit 2 Addressing Discipline (2014), Iowa Department of Education	Toolkit providing guidance to schools on developing a plan to address discipline. Includes a sample plan and step-by-step process to improve school climate.	https://safesupportivelearning.ed.gov/sites/default/files/IS3+Toolkit+2.pdf
Guidance for School Behavioral Health Screening and Telehealth Services (September 2020), Iowa Department of Education	Guidance document informing lowa area education agencies (AEAs), public school districts, and accredited nonpublic school districts of their responsibilities and the responsibilities of behavioral health service providers as required by lowa Code sections 280A.1 through 280A.4.	https://educate.iowa.gov/media/6477/download?inline=
Iowa's Social Emotional Learning Competencies (July 2022), Iowa Department of Education	Guidance document detailing the lowa Competencies, Learning Targets, Developmental Indicators, with Adult Examples for Instruction and Learner Examples (IASEL Competencies) that provides information and resources to help districts and schools implement social-emotional learning.	lowa's Social-Emotional Learning Competencies - Version 3 - Summer 2022 (educateiowa.gov)
Protocols and Training for Suicide Prevention and Postvention, Adverse Childhood Experiences Identification and Strategies to Mitigate Toxic Stress Response (September 2019), Iowa Department of Education	Guidance document providing information to schools on how to implement protocols and training on suicide prevention and postvention, adverse childhood experiences identification, and strategies to mitigate toxic stress response in compliance with Iowa Code Section 279.70.	https://educate.iowa.gov/med ia/4876/download?inline=
Senate File 2360: Guidance for Safe Classroom Learning Environments (September 2020), Iowa Department of Education	Guidance document informing lowa public school districts of the requirements of Senate File 2360 and aiding lowa's school districts in interpreting and implementing this comprehensive legislation.	https://educateiowa.gov/sites/file s/ed/documents/2020-01- 23ConditionOfEducation2019.p df
Other Resources		
The Annual Condition of Education Report (2022),lowa Department of Education	Annual report on student populations and demographics, trends involving teacher salaries, student performance, discipline incidents, and school financial information.	https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/DF/1313480.pdf
·		•